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THE SPECULATIVE PERIOD

1871-1883 






CHAPTER XLVII. LABOR AND OTHER TROUBLES

DURING THE SEVENTIES 





THE

decade 1870 did not open auspiciously for San Francisco or the State of

California. In an address delivered to the State Agricultural society in the

opening year the speaker, A. A. Sargent, took for his theme the slow growth of

the state. He dwelt at length on the difficulty of obtaining farming lands

cheaply, and denounced the evils of monopoly, and suggested the necessity of

remedial legislation. Among other things he spoke of the disappointment

experienced by the people who had expected that the completion of the

transcontinental railroad would give a great impetus to business. Instead of

this hope being realized merchants, manufacturers and others, he declared, had

been brought into sharp competition with the East and were suffering in the

process of readjustment. 




He did

not fail to touch upon the existing social condition which, he said, was the

outcome of the "flush times" of the state. Habits of extravagance, he

told his hearers, had been bred which must be abandoned, because they would

prove an obstacle to development if they were continued; and he spoke of the

anomalous state of the labor market, intimating that it must adapt itself to

the imminent change which closer relations with the East would necessarily

bring about. On this latter point he touched lightly, leaving his hearers to

infer that the adjustment would not prove difficult if the Spanish land grants

could be broken up, and the state settled with small farmers. 




Sargent

voiced one form of dissatisfaction. Governor Newton Booth in a message to the

legislature of 1872 gave expression to another. He too objected to monopoly,

but he found fault chiefly with the monopolistic tendencies of the

corporations, the principal offenders being the men who had constructed the

Central Pacific railroad. He recommended the immediate repeal of the five per

cent subsidy act, which permitted the state and its political subdivisions to

extend aid to railroads, and strongly urged that freights and fares be

regulated "in view of the tendency of railroads to consolidate and become

monopolies." He was particularly severe in his animadversions upon the

device by which the Central Pacific managers were enabled to make contracts

with themselves, and said that "the organizations of corporations within

corporations is a refinement of subtlety and fraud which should be prevented by

law." 




In these

recommendations and reflections he was adhering closely to the platform of the

republican convention which nominated him, and in which a demand was made for

an amendment to the constitution preventing the enactment of subsidy laws, and

demanding the immediate repeal of the five per cent subsidy act, which had been

passed by the preceding legislature. In the election of September 6, 1871,

which resulted in Booth's selection, he received 62,500 votes to 57,500 for

Haight, his democratic opponent. The latter, as well as the former, had adopted

the anti-monopoly slogan; but while the discussions of the campaign revolved

about this particular question, voters were merely called upon to decide which

candidate would prove the sincerest anti-monopolist. An idea of the depth of

popular feeling on the subject may be gained from a comparison of the figures

of the national election held a year later, when Grant received 8,000 less

votes than Booth polled in 1871, and in which nearly 25,000 fewer votes were

cast for president than for governor. 




In 1873,

the anti-railroad feeling had developed to such an extent that it engrossed the

entire attention of voters. The Patrons of Husbandry began an agitation, the

effects of which were subsequently witnessed in national legislation, for an

adjustment of railroad freight rates on a basis which would exclude the

principle of meeting sea competition. Their demand was for a railroad tariff

which would prevent a proportionately greater charge for hauling a short than a

long distance. In 1873, the Patrons of Husbandry threw their strength to the

wing of the republican party, which was antagonizing the railroad, and in the

election of September 3 of that year the combination proved strong enough to

win a majority in the legislature, the result being the election of Governor

Newton Booth to the United States senate as an avowed antagonist of the Central

Pacific railroad and its schemes to extend its power. 




The

alliance between the "Dolly Vardens," as the anti-monopoly

republicans were called, and the Patrons of Husbandry did not endure long. The

platform of the agriculturalists had more planks than that of opposition to

railroad exactions, and some of them were not acceptable, and as a result the

"Dolly Vardens" went to pieces, and the legislators elected by that

party resumed their former partisan relations. As a matter of fact, the

grangers were too advanced in their views and advocated a programme more in harmony

with the sentiment of 1912 than of 1873. They urged that grain sacks should be

made and sold by the state in order to destroy an existing ring by selling at

cost, thus regulating the prices at which bags should be sold; they asked for

the creation of a cooperative bank, and a cooperative system of selling

agricultural supplies, and they demanded that facilities should be provided for

the free storage of grain so that the farmer might be able to hold his product

until the market price proved satisfactory. 




Although

the political alliance of grangers and republicans was short lived it is

interesting to note that the demands of the Patrons of Husbandry a few years

later were practically conceded by the party in power. A law was passed which

provided for the manufacture in the state prison of grain bags. An expensive

plant was established at San Quentin, and the product was sold at cost to the

farmers. While the result may not have been all that was hoped for, there is no

doubt that the prison-made product of grain bags after the Eighties prevented

the extortionate practices of a limited number of importers who had for many

years manipulated the San Francisco market to the disadvantage of the farmer.

There is no means of determining, however, whether the operations of the state

were a profitable or losing venture, for the system of accounting of the prison

was not devised to furnish such information. The demand for the free storage of

grain was also conformed to in a modified fashion by the erection of grain sheds

on the San Francisco sea wall by the State Harbor Commission. This system was

not designed to warehouse grain for extended periods, but would have

undoubtedly developed along those lines had California continued producing

cereals on a scale which would have made exportation necessary. The cooperative

bank project did not materialize as a public institution, but a concern

originally under the auspices of the grangers was started which flourished for

a while in San Francisco and then met the fate which usually attends bad

financial management. 




In the

election of 1875 the "Dolly Vardens" were wholly obliterated.

Bidwell, their candidate for governor, received only 29,752 votes, while Irwin,

who was put up by the democrats, polled 61,500. The election of the latter,

however, by no means indicated an abatement of the hostility to the railroad.

The corporation had taken advantage of a temporary distraction, and by clever

manipulation had succeeded in resuming its interrupted control of public

affairs. The speculative excitement which followed the discovery of the rich

ore body in the Comstock, known as the big bonanza, had produced a business

flurry which resembled prosperity, and as usual under such circumstances, there

was a cessation of agitation. There was also an adroit and successful attempt

to concentrate attention on public offenders which for the time being diverted

assaults from the corporation. In his first message on December 9, 1875, Irwin

spoke of "the worse than state prison felons, the unconvicted embezzlers

of public moneys and the violators of public trust." It was just about

this time that the slogan framed for the democratic party by Samuel J. Tilden,

"turn the rascals out" became popular, and the wave struck California

with such force that the people, for a while at least, were convinced that

malfeasance in office was at the bottom of all their troubles, and that the

proper remedy to apply would be a change of officials. 




In a

message to the legislature Governor Irwin asserted "that the immunity or

at least the apparent immunity with which public officers have appropriated to

their own use the public funds by an almost open violation of the trusts

committed to them has apparently impressed on the lower grade and even average

public mind the conviction that to rob the government is legitimate, and that

not to do so when one has an opportunity argues a lack of business

talent," and there is no doubt that he was in earnest when he added that

"society is therefore bound in self-protection, in self-preservation to

crush out this sentiment utterly," and that he really wished to find a

remedy when he asked: "How can this be done? I answer, only by pursuing

and hunting down with tireless energy and punishing with remorseless vigor the

guilty violator of a public trust." But the fact remains the tireless

energy and the remorseless vigor of punishment he spoke of were not exercised,

and that the failure in this regard furnished Kearney and the so-called

"sand lotters" one of their most formidable weapons in the active

agitation which began a couple of years later. 




Men are

wiser after the event, and therefore we need not be surprised that James Bryce,

when he came to California to make a study of conditions, did not make the

blunder of attributing the upheaval which resulted in the adoption of the

constitution of 1879 to the discontent of the laboring classes of San Francisco

or the machinations of agitators who took advantage of race prejudice to

promote their own ends. It is true that he was misled into placing more

emphasis on a manifestation than the cause which prompted it, but he put his

finger on the sore spot when in speaking of large land holdings he said:

"Some of these speculators by holding their lands for a rise made it

difficult for immigrants to acquire small freeholds, and in some cases checked

the growth of farms. Others let their lands on short leases to farmers, who

thus came into a comparatively precarious, and often necessitous condition;

others established enormous farms in which the soil is cultivated by hired

laborers, many of whom are discharged after the harvest — a phenomenon rare in

the United States, which everybody knows is a country of moderately sized

farms, owned by persons who do most of their labor by their own and their children's

hands. Thus the land system of California presents features both peculiar and

dangerous, a contrast between great properties, often appearing to conflict

with the general weal, and the sometimes pressed hard farmer, together with a

mass of unskilled labor thrown without work into the towns at certain seasons

of the year." This condition of affairs was perfectly known to

Californians for many years anterior to the Kearney sand lot troubles, and

there was in their case an added knowledge of which no account is taken in the

quotation, which had been a source of irritation for years, and for which a

remedy had been vainly sought. The fraudulent character of the titles of many

of the large holdings was understood by the people, who also knew that among the

chief beneficiaries of the betrayals of public trust which Governor Irwin

excoriated were the owners of great Spanish and Mexican grants, who corruptly

influenced assessors to undervalue their holdings in order that they might the

easier perpetuate their power. From 1851, when the commission was created by

congress to inquire into the validity of the grants until the end of its

hearings there was a general belief that most of the land grants were

fraudulent, and it was not dissipated wholly when its report was made showing

that out of a total of 813 claims, calling in the aggregate for 12,000,000

acres or 20,000 square miles, 514 were confirmed. And when subsequently ninety

of the rejected claims were finally confirmed by the United States courts, the

belief was not weakened, although the decisions were acquiesced in and even

welcomed because they put an end to uncertainty. 




To find

the origins of this dissatisfaction it is necessary to go back to the early

Fifties, when what was called the "Preemptioners' League" was formed

in Alameda county by men who were referred to as squatters, but who included in

their organization many who afterward were known as substantial citizens. They

planted themselves on the proposition that the grants were fraudulent and were quite

ready to resist all claims to the ownership of large tracts of land, no matter

what the title. It is not surprising that they were imbued with distrust when

they found such claims as the Santillan, which set up ownership to all the land

of the City and county of San Francisco south of California street. This grant,

which was alleged to have been made to Prudencio Santillan in 1846 by the

Mexican governor, Pio Pico, was confirmed by the land commission March 1, 1855,

but appealed to the United States supreme court, which threw it out in 1860,

pronouncing it an unmitigated fraud. 




The

agitation of the land question in San Francisco in the beginning of the

Seventies was not connected with or influenced in any manner by claims touching

directly the interests of its citizens. All the vexed title questions were

settled in the City before that date and they had left little aftermath of bad

feeling. But the condition in the country was different. In the City the land

had been cut up and had passed into many hands; and in the country at the

opening of the decade most of the large Spanish and Mexican grants were still

intact, and those into whose possession they had come seemed determined to hold

onto them by "hook or crook." It was this attitude, and the means taken

to maintain it which started the anti-monopoly crusade; and when it was entered

upon by the workingmen in the City they were merely championing the cause of

the small land holder, in whom they recognized their naturalally. 




It has

already been noted that there were numerous meetings of the unemployed in 1870

and that in July of that year the Knights of St. Crispin advocated the

nomination of a political ticket, meeting, however, with opposition from the

Mechanics States Council and Eight Hour League. In March 1871, a branch of the

National Labor Union was formed in California and in January of the succeeding

year a convention was held by which a platform was adopted which not only

foreshadowed the demands contained in that of the workingmen's party in 1877-78,

but also bears a striking resemblance to that of the advanced Progressives of

1912. Among its most pronounced features we find these pronouncements and

demands: 




The

equalization of the wages of labor with the income of capital. 




The

establishment of equitable rates of interest for the use of money. 




The

maintenance of an eight hour day system of labor. 




The

establishment of a labor bureau at Washington for the better protection of the

industries of the country. 




The

government holds the public land in trust for the use and benefit of the

people, and it should be distributed to actual settlers only in limited

quantities not exceeding 160 acres, at the cost of survey and distribution. 




All

unimproved land should be taxed the same as though settled and improved. 




There

should be universal compulsory citizen suffrage and secular education. 




Government

should assume control of all chartered and subsidized corporations, and

regulate their charges on the principles of equity and exact justice, and

enforce such regulations as will best secure the interests and safety of

people. 




The

election of president and vice president and senators by direct vote of the

people. 




If there

is any plank in this remarkable platform formulated forty years ago which the

Progressives of 1912 have failed to adopt it should be pointed out.

Nevertheless, in 1872, the framers were regarded as visionaries and when in

1878 the workingmen's party of California reembodied them in a pronouncement

they were denounced as socialistic and incendiary. The history of a city does

not permit indulgence in extended economic discussion, but it is desirable in

this connection to point out that the enunciated principles of the men who

afterward developed into sand lotters in 1872 differed in no essential

particular from those of the advanced reformers of today and that the entire

movement which began in the year 1871 and culminated in the constitution of

1879, has been grossly misrepresented and misunderstood. 




That it

was a popular and not a workingman's movement will be more clearly comprehended

by the reader when additional facts are presented. It will be seen when the

recital is completed that it was in no sense a trades union demonstration. A

careful investigator of the activities of these organizations tells us that

"one hears but little of the regular trades unions between 1870 and 1880."

The soundness of this observation is well attested. The convention which

formulated the platform quoted above through its executive committee announced

in June 1872, that "in all future elections the labor party of California

would place nominees before the people for each elective office, and even

prescribed the manner of making selections, but nothing of the sort was done

until 1878, when the unions adopted the plan in nominating their candidates for

the constitutional convention. 




Doubtless

had the conditions which produced the convention remained unchanged the trades

union solidarity of the sixty decade might have been restored, but the

speculative era interrupted and for a time obscured the hostility to Chinese

immigration which had asserted itself in a pronounced manner during the

Sixties, and earlier. That it was merely dormant was shown by the promptness

with which the Chinese question was revived and became a dominant one as soon

as the shoe of hard times began to pinch. While the big bonanza excitement was

having its run, and all classes of the community from top to bottom were

infected with the fever of mining speculation, the evil results of permitting

the state to be filled with a class of immigrants that might be utilized to

develop its resources along certain lines agreeable to large land holders were

lost sight of, and during the brief period of meretricious

"flushness" views were at times advanced which suggested to the

careless observer that there was a real division of opinion in California

respecting the desirability of introducing this class of labor into the

country. 




It is

necessary to remind the reader that this manifestation was misleading in order

to remove the false impression that the hostility which later developed itself

was due to the activities of the labor unions of San Francisco or to the

unreasoning prejudices of the working classes of the City. As was shown in

earlier chapters the antagonism to Chinese immigration was not based on race

prejudice. It is true that in the mines there were frequent clashes, and the

Chinese were occasionally subjected to assaults, but these were manifestations

of the "know nothingism" of the period, the creed of which was

hostility to all foreigners, and was not inspired by racial differences. The

action of the municipal council in 1850 in officially extending to the

"China Boys" an invitation to take part in the funeral ceremonies of

President Taylor, and similar courtesies, give evidence that there was no

serious friction; and that the subject when it came up for discussion, as it

frequently did, was treated in a large way, proves that the step subsequently

taken by the people of California was not in response to riotous demands of the

working people of San Francisco, but to the development of a settled conviction

that the interests of the state and the American nation would be subserved by

excluding a class of aliens whose assimilation would be impossible. 




It is

wise in studying the anti-Chinese movement in San Francisco to keep in mind the

unsettled conditions respecting immigration that prevailed throughout the

Union. If due consideration is given to the force of the Know Nothing

propaganda, and the intolerance begotten by the manifest destiny idea, which

seethed in the brains of Californians during the Fifties, we will easily divest

ourselves of the belief that opposition to Chinese immigration was merely a

device of politicians. The most fantastic notions prevailed at that period. Not

only was the doctrine of "America for Americans" being preached, but,

as already shown, the desire for absorbing the rest of the world into our body

politic was freely broached. In the "Annals of San Francisco" we find

the writer seriously discussing the desirability of a white race settling the

disturbances in China by playing off against each other the warring factions in

that country, and broadly intimating that the United States might easily

imitate the example of the British. "Indian sepoys," he said,

"fought the battles of England against their own countrymen, Chinese may

do the same for Americans." 




Fantastic

utterances of this sort may be fairly cited to show the wide range taken by

California thought in considering American relations with China at a time when,

to most citizens of the Union living on the Atlantic sea board, the name of

that country was only a geographical designation, and whose knowledge of the

Chinese was largely confined to the information gained from a study of the

queer characters on tea chests. Californians, however, knew the Chinese. They

had observed them at close range, and were by no means disposed to rate them as

an inferior people. It is significant that the first governor of California

under American rule did not discuss the Chinese adversely, but when he retired

from office he expressed it as his "unprejudiced opinion" that they

"were more than a match for the white man in the struggle for

existence." In view of the fact that Burnett has the distinction of having

resigned his office because he was tired of politics, and that the opinion

quoted was delivered after he had retired to private life in 1851, it may be

cited as evidence that the situation was clearly comprehended long before the

advent of Kearney and that Californians were under no illusion respecting

Chinese capacity. 




Governor

Bigler, who followed Burnett in a message to the legislature on April 23, 1852,

declared that the Chinese differed from all other immigrants in one important

particular. They had come to the country through no other motive than cupidity.

"None of them had come as an oppressed people; none of them had sought our

shores as an asylum or to enjoy the blessings of free government." And the

same legislature to which this message was addressed, in dealing with the

question, put its stamp of disapproval upon a phase of Chinese immigration

which menaced the state. In March 1852, a bill was introduced in the senate by

Tingley, the object of which was to permit the enforcement in the courts of the

State of contracts and obligations made in China to perform labor in

California. A similar bill was introduced into the assembly. The senate bill

when called up was indefinitely postponed by a vote of eighteen to two. 




The

rejection of the measure is noteworthy because the principle established in

1852 by a California legislature was accepted by the federal government, which

nearly a quarter of a century later passed a law to prevent the importation of

laborers by contract. Incidentally, it should be mentioned that the object of

the attempt to secure legislation which would sanction the importation of

Chinese laborers under contracts to work was disclosed in a debate in the

legislature of 1855, when a member asked: "Is it not better with modern

skill in engineering to put tools into these 50,000 pairs of willing hands, and

in place of trickling ditches have torrents rushing along to make the miners

glad and people rich?" The debate which called out this expression arose

over a proposition to remove the Chinese miners from Shasta county, a fact

which should be borne in mind by those who labor under the mistaken impression

that Kearney's declaration that "the Chinese must go," made in 1877,

had in it any element of novelty. 




The

truth of the matter is that the agitation against Chinese immigration was

continuous from the time of the occupation down to the date when it began to

attract Eastern attention. That it was nonpartisan and nonpolitical is proved

by the fact that all parties were united as to its undesirability, and that all

classes were agreed that restrictions should be placed upon the introduction of

Chinese laborers was shown a little later when the people of the state voted

almost unanimously in favor of exclusion. When the legislature of 1875-76

created a commission to investigate the subject of Chinese immigration it was

not prompted by the desire to gather information for the people of the state;

the object was to secure and present in official form facts which would appeal

to the rest of the nation. There was no considerable number in California at

that time who disapproved of agitation. That was made apparent in a message

sent to the legislature by Irwin in 1875-6, in which he declared that the

laboring people ought to agitate "as long as they have a just cause for

complaint." No one objected to such advice at that time; it was only when

the matter was brought to a head by the growth of the evils for which Chinese

immigration was responsible that any censure was visited on advocates of

exclusion. 




That the

evils which brought about the sand lot agitation were largely caused by the

desire which found expression in the legislature in 1852, when the wholesale

importation of Chinese laborers was advocated, cannot be doubted. It was the

persistence of the hope that cheap Chinese laborers could be brought into the

country which strengthened the determination of the large land owners to hold

onto their vast estates, and to that disposition more than anything else may be

attributed the retardment of the agricultural industry of the state, the

diversification of which has since contributed so greatly to the prosperity of

California and the growth of its metropolis and principal seaport. Although the

earlier misapprehensions concerning the nature of the soil of California had

been succeeded by an appreciation which sometimes assumed the form of an

exaggerated optimism, the disposition still existed to regard the state as

something apart, and so conditioned that some form of cheap labor would be

required for its development. It was still assumed that the treeless plains

could only be rendered useful by devoting them to grazing. People no longer

believed that the absence of trees indicated sterility, but they were more or

less convinced that they could be farmed advantageously only by operating on a

large scale. Irrigation was sometimes considered, but not very seriously. Where

the experiment had been tried it had usually proved successful but it was not

generally resorted to in any part of the state. The wool industry in 1873 was

still important, and much pride was taken in the statistics of production which

had expanded from an insignificant output of 5,500 pounds in 1850 to over

24,000,000 pounds in the later year. The attitude toward wheat growing was

nearly the same. There was a confident belief that it would indefinitely

continue to be California's most profitable crop, and this opinion prevailed

until after the first half of the decade 1880, when the average annual

production was 30,000,000 bushels, largely harvested on big farms. 




The

first serious attempt to deal with irrigation legislatively was in 1875-76,

when an act was introduced for the creation of what was known as the West Side

irrigation district. This scheme, which failed of acceptance at the time,

contemplated a canal for transportation as well as for irrigation, and the

latter was designed to assist the grain grower in a region of scant

precipitation. The canal was to be led along the western edge of the San Joaquin

valley from Tulare to tide water in Contra Costa county. It was pronounced

impracticable in its original shape and awakened no more interest than the

project of Wozencraft, who procured the passage of an act by the legislature in

1859 which had for its object the diversion of the waters of the Colorado from

their regular channel into the great depression between that river and the

Coast Range Mountains. Wozencraft's theory was that the filling of the basin

would produce climatic changes similar to those effected by the construction of

Lake Maeotus in Egypt, and that the waters could be effectively used for

irrigation purposes. The matter was never tested because congress refused to

cede the lands asked for within three years of the date of the passage of the

act, and the scheme was never revived. 




Irrigation

received its first genuine impetus when the prospect of breaking up the big

ranches began to take on a more definite shape than that of mere hope. This did

not occur until the dissatisfaction of the struggling small farmer attracted

the attention and enlisted the sympathy of the city workers, who deserve the

credit of being among the earliest to perceive that the growth of the state was

largely dependent upon the subdivision of the great ranches and their passing

into the possession of small owners. In the convention which formulated the

plank which declared that "all unimproved land should be taxed the same as

though settled and improved," the danger of permitting a tenant system to

be developed received ample attention, as did also the menace contained in the

possibility of large land owners being permitted to work their estates with

cheap Oriental labor. The necessity of making the state attractive to

immigrants, and the good results which would ensue from the creation of a

population mainly made up of small farmers were likewise emphasized and the

rational view which subsequently prevailed was clearly set forth. 




It does

not appear that the deliberations of the convention attracted attention at the

time, but a year later there was much discussion along the same lines, although

it was usually dissociated from the labor question. In 1872, it began to be

recognized that the cultivation of raisins might become an important industry,

and there was a generally entertained opinion that their production would be

promoted by cutting up the big tracts into small farms. The editors of the city

papers taking this as a text pointed out that a large number of small farmers

would be immeasurably more beneficial to San Francisco than a few great

estates, even if the latter should be developed to their full capacity by hired

help. It was urged that the independent agriculturalist who owned and tilled

his own land usually raised a family, while under the other system the conditions

would be certain to produce a nomadic population made up of "blanket

men," who would have to ramble about the country in search of a job in the

seasons when work offered itself and who would seek refuge in the City at other

times and become a burden on the community. 




It

cannot be said of this period that the merchants of San Francisco, or the

people of the City generally were alive to the possibilities of diversified

industry. 




Ideas of

development were still in the nebulous stage and there was a marked disposition

to drift with the tide. Perhaps there was less interest relatively in the

subject of immigration during the early Seventies than was manifested

throughout the Fifties, when some at least seemed to clearly perceive that the

future of the port depended upon the growth of a large agricultural population,

whose wants its merchants would supply and for whose products they would find

profitable markets. As late as 1874, when the project was mooted of making a

showing at the centennial exposition, which was to be held in Philadelphia two

years later, it was not received with any degree of enthusiasm, and the

legislature declined to take any part in the enterprise on the ground that the

state could not hope to derive any benefit from making an exhibit at a fair

held on the Atlantic seaboard. 




The

canning industry, which had attained sufficient importance to have its output

statistically stated in the later Sixties, was credited with a production of

132,000 cases in 1870, but the pack was consumed almost wholly within the

state. Some of the fruit put up in San Francisco was shipped to Nevada and

Oregon, but very few persons entertained the idea of finding markets at a

distance for this particular product. This need not be regarded as a surprising

statement for the shelves of the grocery stores of San Francisco down to a much

later period displayed a larger assortment of fruit canned in the Eastern

states than of domestic, and throughout the Pacific coast states and

territories peaches put up in Baltimore shared popularity with the products of

California orchards. 




It may

be said of the people of San Francisco in the early Seventies that they had not

yet found themselves. This does not mean that there were not some discerning

minds able to penetrate the future, for there were plenty who were ready to

prophesy that California was destined to be a great horticultural and

viticultural state, and that its people would someday derive great profit from

the pursuit of industries then in their infancy. But the great majority did not

act up to this belief and were encouraged to be incredulous by critics who were

ready to point out that the products of the young state were inferior to those

of older communities. In 1871, the vineyards of the state produced about four

and a half million gallons of wine, but inferior foreign wines were imported,

and it was the fashion to assume that they were better than the native product,

and it was the custom to think and say that while California might produce a

fairly good raisin it could hardly expect to rival the excellence of

"three crown Malagas." 




The

spirit of the times was not pessimistic, nor can these exhibitions be fairly

regarded as evidence of distrust. The City was still under the domination of

the idea that mining and cereal farming would remain its chief dependence, and

the merchants believed that communities can become rich by buying more than

they sell. The value of a domestic manufacturing industry was not entirely lost

sight of by enterprising men. Indeed, undue efforts were made to stimulate it

in disregard of the economic law that a large nearby consuming population is

essential to the development of the factory in an era of sharp competition, and

that without an artificial barrier to importation it is hopeless to attempt to

successfully produce under a high wage system. One of the most melancholy

episodes of this period is the vain effort of W. C. Ralston to promote

manufacturing in San Francisco. He was the victim of the delusion that nearby

raw materials and remoteness from other centers of manufacturing would offset

the disadvantages of a limited market and a higher wage scale and paid a heavy

penalty for his mistake. 


















 





CHAPTER XLVIII. SAN FRANCISCO SURRENDERS TO THE SPIRIT OF SPECULATION 





THE

condition described in the preceding chapter would hardly be inferred from a

study of the commercial statistics of the port of San Francisco, which showed

steady gains in imports and exports. The latter, which had only aggregated

$3,649,277 in 1860, increased to $13,385,991 in 1870 and in 1875 they had

expanded to $23,444,025. The figures of the last-mentioned year would be

materially added to if the products of the state, which were finding their way

eastward by rail, were included, as there was a considerable development of the

domestic trade after the opening of the transcontinental railroad in 1869. The

imports of foreign goods, however, kept pace with exports to other lands,

rising from $7,376,016 in 1860 to $15,982,549 in 1870, and reaching $24,677,243

in 1875. There are no available statistics to show the quantities and values of

goods brought to San Francisco by rail but there is reason for believing that

the facilities of land transportation were largely employed by merchants who

very early began to lose sight of the fact that the prosperity of a seaport

depends very largely on the use its inhabitants make of their shipping

advantages. 




As

already noted the mines began to show a diminishing output in the Sixties, the

yield declining from $44,095,163 in 1860 to $17,123,867 in 1870 and averaging

about $16,500,000 during the following five years. The lessening rewards of

placer mining undoubtedly turned many from that occupation, and as the

opportunities for employment in the country, owing to the system of farming, which

was conducted with a minimum of help, a great many of the released miners found

their way to the City. This was no unusual phenomenon during the period when

the gold yield was more than double that of the early Seventies, for it was the

custom of the miners to resort to San Francisco during the season when work

could not be prosecuted, but under those circumstances the number who sought

work was small. In fact, the visitors from the standpoint of the business man

were regarded as a desirable floating population, as they usually expended the

earnings of the summer in securing comforts and enjoyments of a sort from which

they were debarred while prosecuting their search for the precious metal. The

idlers from the mines in the Seventies sought the City with a much different

purpose. 




The

decline of placer mining was not followed by a rapid development of quartz

mining, which might have attracted and absorbed the disengaged gold hunters who

would probably have taken to that occupation had the opportunity presented

itself. A comparatively few when the chances of the placers shrunk took up the

work of prospecting, but the major part of those released made their way to the

City and helped to swell the army of unemployed, which was exhibiting signs of

uneasiness. A large part of the growth of population which the census of 1870

showed was undoubtedly due to accessions from this cause, and not to excessive

immigration from Eastern states. The population of the state increased during

the Sixties from 379,994 to 560,427, a gain of 180,433, of which San Francisco

is credited with 92,671, or more than half, a rate of growth which is shown to

be abnormal when compared with the figures of the succeeding census, which

showed a gain for the whole state of 304,267, San Francisco's share of which

was only 84,486 or a little less than a third. 




There

was no good reason for this extraordinary urban expansion during the Sixties.

It was out of all proportion to the development of industries of the sort

calculated to afford employment to large numbers of people. There was some

growth of manufacturing during the decade. Woolen mills were established, and

the metal trades expanded to some extent, and there was a considerable growth

of small concerns, but there was no real factory development of the sort

witnessed in the towns on the Atlantic seaboard, where the operations of

manufacturers were greatly extended while the Civil war was in progress, and

where, under the influence of the Morrill protective tariff, Americans were

rapidly taking possession of the domestic market. 




While

there was much talk in San Francisco about manufacturing in the latter half of

the Sixties and during the early Seventies, and some unusual steps were taken

to promote industry of that character, as in the case of Ralston who, in his

capacity of manager of the affairs of the Bank of California, used the money of

that institution to stimulate the domestic production of furniture and

carriages and to forward other enterprise, a course for which he was afterward

criticized and even denounced, the business men of the City continued to think

of the port chiefly as a distributing center. Those who gave thought to the

subject were disposed to take New York and Liverpool for their models, and

their energies were chiefly devoted to the problems of distribution rather than

of production, an attitude not at all conducive to creative enterprise, and a

dangerous one in a city which under the modern system of development, acts as a

magnet to draw population which must be provided with opportunities for

employment if trouble is to be averted, and the process of growth is not to

suffer interruption. 




San

Francisco during the Sixties and Seventies was the distributing point for the

vast area known as California, and for the entire Pacific coast. The figures of

the custom house show that practically all the exporting of domestic products,

and the importation of foreign goods for the vast region known as the coast,

was done by the merchants of San Francisco. There is absolutely no mention of

any exports in 1860 through any other California port than San Francisco, and

all the imports passed through the Golden Gate. Ten years later the condition

remained unchanged. In 1875, when the exports from all customs districts in the

state aggregated $23,444,025, the amount credited to San Francisco was

$23,266,395, and in 1880, when the state's exports totaled $31,910,436, the

share of the metropolis in the trade was $31,845,712. The story told by the

tables of exports is repeated in that of imports, although care must be taken

in making comparisons between different periods to not confuse the statistics

which represent goods in transit, with those which show the volume and value of

goods received for distribution on the coast. The import totals were greatly

swollen after 1875 by the inclusion in them of large quantities of raw silk. In

1870 imports of this commodity only aggregated $318,041; this amount had slowly

increased to $603,264 by 1875 and in the opening year of the new decade it had

swollen to $10,037,009. Practically all of this raw material passed through the

port to the East, only a very small quantity being retained here to be consumed

in an attempt to create a silk manufacturing industry which, after a precarious

existence of some years, gave up the ghost. 




Prior to

1870 the entire volume of imports represented Pacific coast consumption, and

the San Francisco merchants enjoyed the profits of its distribution. The habit

of direct importation had become well fixed, and the City was perhaps less

dependent upon the activities of the importers of New York than any other in

the country. It was the boast of San Franciscans at a time when domestic

productions were held in less esteem than at present, that the people of the

City were able to get the real foreign article while those of Eastern cities

were apt to have American imitations imposed upon them by unscrupulous dealers.

In view of later developments the propensity to extol the superiority of

foreign productions seems foolish, but during the period under review this was

the prevalent attitude and it was persistently encouraged by the class who

imagined that the future of San Francisco was bound up in its facilities for

distribution. 




Doubtless

this was the natural point of view in the early Seventies. Exports of

breadstuffs, which amounted to only $1,178,676 in 1860, had increased to

$10,090,179 in 1870, and when the latter decade was half completed $15,813,941

of such commodities had passed through the Golden Gate destined to European

ports. Visions of feeding the inhabitants of the old world dazzled men, and it

cannot be said that they were unsubstantial for, seven years later, in 1882,

there was actually shipped through the port of San Francisco $40,138,557 worth

of breadstuffs. When these dreams were being dreamed the great resource which

has since become one of the mainstays of the state was hardly considered. In

1860, we find in the customs statistics a record of $120 worth of fruit and

nuts exported; in 1870 the value of such shipments was only $44,156, and that

amount probably came near to the total of our surplus in the year named, for

the shipments by rail, if there were any, were too insignificant to be taken

note of, and indeed very little was known about California fruit outside of its

boundaries until four or five years later. 




There

had been tremendous changes in the character and volume of the products of

California during the twenty years following 1850, but they were not of a

nature to suggest the vast transformation that was to take place after that

date. The student of statistics observing the fact that the exports of tallow

had dropped to $6,585 in 1870 and to $1,879 in 1875, would have inferred the

disappearance of the herds that once roamed the great ranches of the state, but

he must have been endowed with more than ordinary prevision to have foreseen

that the time would speedily arrive when California would be an importer of

breadstuffs and an exporter of tens of thousands of car loads of fresh and

canned fruits; and that an almost unconsidered mineral product would outrank in

importance as a source of wealth the output of the placer and gold mines of the

state. 




It is

doubtful whether the baser metals or petroleum engaged much of the attention of

San Francisco in the early Seventies. "Coal oil" was sought for in a

perfunctory manner after the dissemination of the news of the discovery in

Pennsylvania but without practical result. It would have been extraordinary if

the peculiarities of the region where the California discoveries of importance

made in later years had escaped notice. As a matter of fact, they did not. Men

acquainted with the formations in the Titusville region were sure that the

search for oil in California would be rewarded, but they could not enlist the

interest of capitalists. In 1876, the "Ventura Signal" published an

article complaining of the indifference shown by the latter, but was rebuked by

a San Francisco paper, which scouted its contemporary's assertion that oil

found in the vicinity of San Buenaventura could "be reduced and placed in

the market as a first class burning fluid." "If," remarked the

San Francisco editor, "the 'Signal' desires to gain the ear of capitalists

and induce them to look at the subject seriously with a view to investing it

must go into it more in detail." 




This

"you must show me" attitude of San Francisco capitalists was

characteristic of the period and applied to almost every sort of enterprise

excepting the search for the precious metals. The men who had made their money

in mines or by speculating in mining stocks were ready to embark in

undertakings of the most dubious sort if the lure was gold, and they were not

reluctant to invest in real estate and were even ready to put up buildings, but

they were disinclined to take up occupations about which they knew nothing.

They lacked the confidence which inspired men in the older communities to back

the proficient, and not without some cause, for experience had demonstrated

quite early that the conditions which made the investment of capital in

manufacturing and other industries quite safe in the East were not present in

the new state. 




That the

discovery of the great ore body in the Comstock contributed to this attitude of

indifference towards other enterprises than mining is not surprising. For a

period it turned the minds of San Franciscans from the contemplation of other

modes of acquiring wealth than by speculating in stocks or making a lucky

strike in a mine. From 1872 until the decade was well spent the community was

kept in a whirl of excitement. Occasionally the flames of speculation flared up

more brightly than at other times, but during the entire period they burned

with a consuming heat which destroyed the commercial vitality of the people.

This was the greatest evil produced by the discovery of the big bonanza. The

unscrupulous manipulation of the stock market, and the robberies practiced by

unprincipled men who unhesitatingly took the last dollar of their victims, were

criminal offenses whose consequences were disastrous to the individuals whose

cupidity caused their misfortune, but the most serious result was that which

flowed from the arrestment of progress, due to the diversion of capital from

productive enterprises and turning it into the pockets of men who were neither desirous

nor capable of making a proper use of their acquisitions. 




The

so-called "big bonanza" was discovered during the period of

speculation which began with the uncovering of rich ore deposits in the Crown

Point and Belcher mines on the Comstock and the Raymond and Ely mine at Pioche,

Nevada, in 1872. The excitement produced by these discoveries immeasurably

surpassed that winch attended the speculative era that began in 1863, when

Gould and Curry, Savage, Ophir and Hale and Norcross, all on the Comstock lode,

were the stocks chiefly dealt in by the brokers and which a gullible public

stood ready to buy despite the fact that watering was unblushingly practiced

and that absolutely no dependence could be placed on reports of those in

control of the mines, who were more interested in manipulating them so as to

absorb the earnings of the people by levying assessments than they were in

extracting their ores. There was no doubt about the great richness of some of

these mines. Between 1860 and 1876 those in control of Gould and Curry took out

$15,178,118, and during the same period there was extracted from Savage

$15,703,279, yet these two companies paid dividends amounting to only

$8,286,000, while over $23,595,000 was consumed in operating or was grabbed by

the manipulators. 




The

experience of the Sixties did not serve as a warning to the people of San

Francisco and the rest of the state. That they disregarded it was not due to

ignorance of the villainies practiced by the manipulators, for the community

clearly understood that it was being fleeced, and that in nine instances out of

ten the money risked by those who bought on margin was at the mercy of sharpers

who were playing a game with marked cards. With most of those who dealt in

stocks the process was a gamble pure and simple. There was much affectation of

consideration of the possibility or probability of ore bodies being uncovered,

but no one was deceived by it; least of all the victims of the villainy who

were well informed concerning the propensity of the manipulators, even when

rich ores were found to so manage matters that few excepting themselves derived

any benefits from the discoveries. 




Side by

side with the speculation involved in buying and selling on margin there was a

practice equally pernicious which caught the credulous in great numbers. Mining

companies were created by wholesale whose stocks were greedily absorbed by

silly people who permitted themselves to be deceived by lies concerning

developments which were circulated to induce the dupes to pay assessments. Men

went on year after year paying the demands made upon them by unscrupulous

rascals who consumed the money they received in paying themselves extravagant

salaries and in maintaining costly offices. The amount thus abstracted by these

cunning operators was enormous, while the returns to the investors were

comparatively insignificant. 




It would

be impossible to describe all the methods resorted to by the manipulators to

absorb for their own use the wealth extracted from the mines with the money

paid in by stockholders for their operation. In a message to the legislature in

1872, Governor Newton Booth made reference to a notorious practice which is

punished with imprisonment when the offender is a workingman, or a mere

servant, but was passed over in the case of the leading spirits controlling the

large mines which should have paid handsome dividends to the stockholders if

their proceeds had been honestly distributed. He said: "It is not uncommon

to find one class of stockholders enriching themselves from a company which

impoverishes another. So common is this, especially with mining companies, that

it has become proverbial and grown into a distinct and disgraceful code of

morals, one of whose tenets is that to own a majority of stock or a controlling

interest is to own it all. No stockholder in a corporation," urged the

governor, "should be allowed to hold any interest in a corporation which

is distinct from and may become antagonistic to the interest of the company as

a whole." In this criticism Booth indicted the practice by which mine

operators in control managed to divert into their own pockets all the gold

extracted by paying extortionate prices to subsidiary companies for performing

services which should have been performed by the companies for the benefit of

the body of stockholders. This disreputable trick was copied from the managers

of the Central Pacific, but the avarice of the men who obtained control of the

Comstock mines was so great that at times their operations made those of the

railroad men seem mere petty larceny affairs by comparison. Mention has been

made of the enormous amount extracted from Savage and Gould and Curry, and the

insignificant sum paid to stockholders. A large part of the money robbed from

the latter was obtained by the practice denounced by Booth. 




If thus

early a governor was called upon to denounce this refined system of robbery

there was certainly some excuse for the impassioned sand lot oratory in which

the mining manipulators were denounced as "the cormorants and vultures of

society." The excesses of the speculative era of the Sixties were small by

comparison with those which became glaringly apparent after 1872, and continued

until the community was nearly squeezed dry. Saturnalia is a much-overworked

word, but it is one that best describes the activities of the years of

unblushing recklessness during which San Francisco was exploited by the mine

manipulators. The astonishing alacrity with which the people embraced the

opportunity to get rid of their earnings by cutting loose from all economic

traditions is too suggestive of a sort of madness to be classed as a mere

experience. Nothing short of a term which implies a complete abandonment of

ordinary restraints and disregard of the future can convey an adequate

impression of the condition which existed in San Francisco between 1872 and

1877. 




There

have been speculative disturbances in New York which have surpassed the

magnitude of the operations in San Francisco following the discovery of the big

bonanza, but there never was one in which a whole community involved itself so

generally as the people of the Pacific coast city did between the years mentioned.

The best testimony on this point is that of a broker who subsequently in

reviewing the conditions produced was actually able to find some words in

defense of the iniquities of the period. He tells us that the infection

pervaded all ranks of society. Asking the question "From whence come our

orders?" he answered it by saying: "Imprimis from San Francisco and

literally from the kitchen to the pulpit; from every shade in life, and every

nationality represented in San Francisco. Chinamen were large gamblers in

mining stocks, and wherever the telegraph wires extended large orders would

roll in." 




During

the height of the excitement the streets in the neighborhood of the mining

stock exchanges were so crowded that they became almost impassable. 




Police

were required to clear the tracks when a slow-moving horse car passed through

Montgomery street, although that thoroughfare was a half block distant from the

scene of operations. So dense were the throngs that brokers had to be assisted

by officers to reach their places of business, and the board rooms. And so keen

were the people to engage in the gamble that it became necessary to hold

informal sessions during which the heaviest business of the day would be

transacted. 




The term

credulous when applied to the participants only describes the practices and not

the beliefs of those who took part in these exciting scenes. One of the marvels

of the situation was the cynical attitude of the participants. It was no

uncommon thing to hear men who had invested their money in stocks speak of the

prevalent roguery of those who manipulated them. Volumes could be filled with

stories, some of them apocryphal but all illustrative, describing rascalities

which resulted in the impoverishment of the victims. A curious feature of these

relations was the utter absence of indignation attending the recital which even

when tragic would be considered humorous. One current story seemed to impress

all classes as particularly funny. It was to the effect that one of the bonanza

quartette had imparted in confidence to a minister that a certain stock was

going to move upward. Although he was enjoined to keep the information secret

nearly every member of his congregation received a tip, and they all bought

largely. Exactly the reverse happened; the stock went down and the dupes lost

heavily. The minister when he reproached the mining manipulator was met with

expressions of regret, accompanied by an offer to reimburse him for his losses,

but of course the speculative members of his congregation, in the parlance of

the street, had to "take their medicine." 




The

story as related may have been untrue, but those who told it, and their

hearers, believed it, or at least were convinced that there was no trick too

base or deception too vile from which the big men who controlled the mines

would shrink in order to get money. It might be imagined that a community

possessed of such beliefs would arise and drive its despoilers from their

midst, but queerly enough resentment was modified by the illogical opinion that

in some inscrutable fashion the men who were robbing them were conferring a

benefit upon the City. The process of reasoning was something like this:

"A healthy stock market, one founded upon a discovery of rich ore has

always proved a great advantage to San Francisco. With a rise in value, a small

owner of stock purchased at low figures becomes comparatively wealthy.

Experience shows that, as a rule, a man struggling with debt on his shoulders,

should he be one of the fortunate owners of stock in a mine where rich ore has

been found will sell at about the time when his profits will pay all his debts,

and debts of say $10,000 paid in this way may pass through the hands of a

hundred other people, each one paying some long neglected obligation. This in a

way means prosperity to the community; money placed in circulation in this way

always does an immense amount of good, taking the stagnation out of a

previously dull period." 




It would

be a waste of words to point out the fallacies of this argument made by a

well-informed broker, but there is not the slightest doubt that a very large

proportion of the people of San Francisco really believed that it was the

speculation which produced the brief period of prosperity that followed the

discovery of the California and Consolidated Virginia mines, and not the wealth

which they added to the community. It might have been urged that the sales of

stocks of even those companies which never returned any dividends to their

investors contributed to the prosperity of the City by stimulating the search

which resulted in finding paying mines, but it is incredible that anyone should

have imagined that the betting transactions known as dealings in futures could

have profited anyone but the brokers, and the winners, except upon the theory

that the latter were easily separated from their gains. 




And

indeed this was true. Almost as disastrous in its effects as the losses of

dupes was the example of extravagance which successful operators set the

community. "Easy come, easy go" was their motto. In the whirl of

excitement which marked the close of the year 1874, both Con. Virginia and

California made the extraordinary advance of $500 in price per share in less

than thirty days. The fluctuations during the four months beginning with November

1874, and ending February 25, 1875, of the three leading stocks were no less

remarkable than the phenomenal rise above mentioned. California which sold at

$90 on November 17, 1874, advanced to $160 on December 3rd, was sold at $300 on

December 17th, at $100 on the 23rd and at $480 on the 30th. On January 7th it

reached $790, the top price. A week later it was down to $590 and on February

18th it was $50. Con. Virginia had a nearly similar experience, rising from

$160 on November 17, 1874, touching $710, its highest point, on January 7,

1875, and descending to $415 on February 4th, from which it mounted to $440 on

February 25th. Ophir which started at $90 November 17th, touched $315 January

7, 1875, and dropped to $77 on February 25th. 




These

tremendous fluctuations were caused by the interests battling for control, and

those who entered the contest were under no illusions respecting the cause of

the phenomenal advances, nor were they wholly unprepared for the subsequent

recessions. The volume of transactions was large and the number participating

was great. Those not in the ring were without any information whatever and were

simply staking their money on the turn of a card, for in the moments which

attended the fights for control the people who gambled did not have the sorry

excuse which they consoled themselves with at other times that they were acting

on a "tip" which they believed to be reliable. One of the most

extraordinary features of the mining stock craze in San Francisco was the utterly

irrational conduct of the majority of those who speculated. Those who have any

acquaintance with the movement of the Eastern stock market, the principal

dealings of which are in railroads and industrials, know that the whole line

moves up and down in sympathy at times. There is nothing surprising in this

unison for the same cause which affects one stock may extend to all similar

stocks, and communicate itself to all securities dependent upon business

prosperity and adversity. That the value of mining stocks should have displayed

the same sympathetic variations seems preposterous and proves conclusively that

the mass of San Francisco speculators, in the parlance of the street, were

"suckers." 




The

manipulators were perfectly aware of this fact and were quite willing to pay

for the privilege of angling in the muddy stream for the silly fish. The sales

of stocks on the boards had fallen off greatly during the opening year of the

Seventies, the total of 1870 reported by one exchange aggregating only

$51,186,000. In the ensuing year this amount jumped up to $127,888,000, and

great eagerness was displayed to secure the listing of new companies. The

brokers were prompt to take advantage of this pressure and advanced the listing

price from $200 to $600 in April 1872, and later on raised it to $1,000. Before

the fires of the excitement were extinguished by the calamitous failures of

1876, the listing price was $2,000, and many utterly worthless mines received

the stamp of approval of the exchange because their owners or those in control

were willing to pay that figure for the privilege of having their stocks

quoted. 




In 1876,

there were 226 companies listed on one board. No one has attempted to ascertain

how many of this number represented absolutely valueless properties. That most

of the properties were not paying dividends seemed to make no difference to the

infatuated gamblers, who were perfectly aware that many of them were not

expected to do anything of the sort. Some pretense of making inquiry into the

professions of the listed companies was kept up, but it was only a sham, for

most of the stocks dealt in were proved by the event to be those of companies

whose existence depended upon the ability of the men managing them to extract

assessments from dupes ready to pay out their money in the hope that a rising

market would increase the price of their stocks, or that a lucky strike would

give them a real value and make them rich. 




It was

the utterly unwarranted sympathetic movement referred to which caused so much

mischief among the small fry investors. If through genuine merit one company's

stock made a jump upward, or if through manipulation the price of a dividend

paying stock was advanced, the whole line was "boosted." No reason

was applied. The discovery of a rich ore body in a mine in one district

sufficed to convince the speculator that the chances of a like discovery in

another mine were increased and he acted accordingly. No one can tell how much

honestly and laboriously earned money passed into the pockets of clever manipulators

while the delirium lasted, but the sum must have been immense. That much of the

speculation merely resulted in the transference of money from the pockets of

one set of gamblers, who may have been respectable citizens, into those of

another set equally respectable is undoubtedly true; but if a balance sheet

could be made it would show that by far the greatest amount of the resulting

transactions, whether of production, or of the movement of the stock market,

was absorbed by comparatively few cunning men. 




It was

estimated that before Con. Virginia and California ceased to be profitably

worked they had produced $133,471,000. Gould and Curry, the first mine on the

Comstock in which a large body of ore was uncovered, between the date of the

discovery of its richness in 1862 and 1905 was credited with a production of

$15,525,000. Savage produced $20,552,000; Hale and Norcross $11,486,000;

Challar Potosi $13,985,000; Imperial and adjoining claims $28,039,000; Kentuck

$4,905,000; Yellow Jacket $18,043,000; Crown Point $33,081,000 and Belcher

$34,415,000. How much of this vast sum exceeding $338,000,000 was paid out in

dividends, or how the latter were distributed it would be impossible to tell.

The figures of production were derived from the records of the defunct stock

exchanges, but they are not explicit concerning the disposition of the earnings

of the mines. That the distribution was not equitable was notorious. That no

possible device which would turn the product of the mines into the pockets of

manipulators was neglected is known. And that no effort was made to put an end

to the shameless robbery of the people until they were practically cleaned out

is a matter of history. Nevertheless, to recur to a former statement, an

opinion undoubtedly prevailed in what may be termed influential circles that a

brisk stock market, no matter what its accompaniments, spelt prosperity for San

Francisco. That this idea should have gained so firm a hold on the class

mentioned is due to the fact that the prosperity of the few led to

extraordinary extravagances which had the effect of promoting business of all

kinds. 




The most

of the vast sums represented by the productions of the mines, the majority of

which were situated in Nevada, flowed to San Francisco where they were invested

or expended by those who were fortunate enough to secure them. Had the

distribution been even more inequitable than it really was the result must have

been to stimulate business, if only temporarily. But the trouble did not stop

with the unfair methods adopted by manipulators to absorb the major part of the

profits of mineral production; the greed of the principal beneficiaries was

such that they did not shirk from putting up jobs which had the effect of

diverting the accumulations of the community, which under normal conditions

would have been devoted to the promotion of legitimate enterprises, into

nonproductive undertakings, or into the pockets of the parasites who consume

what is produced and saved by the industrious and frugal. 




There is

no end of anecdotes concerning the profuse display of the beneficiaries of the

speculative excitement. We are told of a broker who had three hundred and

sixty-five pairs of pantaloons, one for every day in the year, and the papers

are filled with allusions which indicate that the motto "easy come, easy

go" was lived up to by those who were profiting through the foolishness of

the people. They also tell the story in their advertising and news columns of

an excessive love of amusement, which took the form of liberal patronage of

music and the drama. At no time in the history of the City had the artist been

more prosperous than he was during the Seventies, and in that decade was

witnessed the remarkable passion for architectural adornment which did so much

to convert San Francisco into a place of pinnacles and steeples which, however

absurd when considered in detail, gave the town its admittedly picturesque

appearance. 




It is

true too, that while the period of lavish expenditure lasted little was heard

of the wrecks produced by the system. "Pauper alley" came into

prominence after the bubble had burst, and the wretched "mud hens"

who infested it were not conspicuous in the days when the "gent" with

three hundred and sixty-five pairs of "pants" flourished. Paupers had

been made in plenty in the early Seventies, but it was not until the collapse

of the Sierra Nevada deal in 1877 that the alley became a place of resort for a

lot of infatuated creatures who had lost what they had, and still hoped that

some worthless bits of paper to which they clung would become valuable. Pauper

alley was that part of Leidersdorff street south of California. It was a narrow

thoroughfare with sidewalks three or four feet wide, and was abundantly

supplied with saloons and cigar stands, there being five of the former and four

of the latter in the distance of a short block. There were also two pool rooms,

two restaurants and a candy stand. There was an entrance to the Pacific Stock

Board from the alley, some brokers' offices and a bucket shop. It was always

crowded in the flush days, and when those of tribulation came it was haunted by

broken down men and bedraggled women, who spent their time telling about the

fortunes that had slipped through their fingers, and dreaming dreams of

fortunes still to be made. In time it became one of the sore spots which

visitors were shown, but it was swept out of existence in the disaster of 1906

and is now only a memory. 




The

celebrated Comstock mines from which the vast riches mentioned were extracted

were in Nevada, but the boundaries of the lode were rather indefinite, and were

the subject of jest. Shuck in his "History of the Stock Exchange"

relates that an inquisitive person who wished to arrive at the facts questioned

a miner and that the following dialogue resulted: 




"What

is the true location out here on the side of Mount Davidson? 




"Well,

stranger, it is about this way. There hain't but one lode along here. Them

locations east and west of this great lode is only to sell to tenderfeet. 




"Well,

if that is the case, what are the boundaries of this great lode? 




"Well,

stranger, the boundaries of this great lode is as follows: The footwall is the

diorite of Mount Davidson, and the hanging wall is Salt Lake City. All quartz

within them boundaries is the Comstock lode." 




The joke

lies in the application. The number of San Franciscans who had any better

information than was embraced in this comprehensive definition of the boundary

was limited. And their knowledge of the geography of the mines real or

imaginary in which they invested their money was no more meager than that which

they possessed of the workings of the properties, or whether they had any

existence at all. It is related of a San Francisco woman who visited Monte

Carlo and sat at one of the tables where she was a pretty constant winner, but

had to be told when she had made a winning, that she answered the testy remark

of an Englishman who sat by her side, that he could not see why anyone who

didn't understand the game should play, by saying "Oh, that's all right. I

used to make plenty of money in mining stocks and I never knew anything about

them." She was more frank than the average participant in the dangerous

game but not more ignorant. The most of them could talk glibly enough about the

number of feet in this, that or the other mine, and had mastered the

intricacies of the various subdivisions of the leading stocks. They knew to an

inch the dimensions of the leading claims, and were familiar with the history

of the processes by which a few men obtained control of great ore bodies. If

the mystified stranger from the East asked for information they could tell him

all about the methods of William Sharon and W. C. Ralston, and of their rivals

James C. Flood, William S. O'Brien, John W. Mackay and James G. Fair. They had

the story of the rise of these magnates by heart, and they did not allow it to

lose any of its piquancy in the telling. But there was little malice in their

relations at that time. That came later. If there were animadversions upon the

fact that Flood and O'Brien kept a drinking saloon on Washington street, and

that they waited on their own customers, they were usually qualified with

admiration that men could rise to such lofty heights from so low an estate. 




These

critics dwelt on the shrewd dealings of the two saloonkeepers and the profits

made by them through investments in Comstocks, and upon their sagacity in

associating with them in their operations Mackay and Fair, two practical miners

who were working on the lode. After the formation of this partnership the

unproved ground near the north end of the Comstock lode known as Consolidated

Virginia was purchased by the quartette. The claim was 1,310 feet in length and

was divided in 1875 into two mines, California with 600 feet and Consolidated

Virginia 710 feet. The two mines were represented by 10,700 shares which were

bought at $4 to $9 a share, the property being acquired by the four for a sum

less than $100,000, and considerably less than $100 a lineal foot.

"Con." Virginia — the contraction of Consolidated, was always

employed in speaking of the mine — had been worked for many years but had never

returned a dollar of dividends, but for reasons known to the new firm its

members had unbounded faith in its future. 




That it

was not a blind chance was shown by the mode of working. Instead of sinking on

the old shaft the firm made arrangements to run a tunnel from the Gould and

Curry shaft which had attained a depth of 1,800 feet and was 800 feet from Con.

Virginia ground. This drift was begun at a depth of 1,200 feet below the

surface, and it was while making it that the body of ore known as the "big

bonanza" was discovered. The discovery resulted in the immediate

enhancement of the value of the property. So great was the richness of the deposit

that its owners were enabled to convert the original 10,700 shares into two

issues of 108,000 shares each, each share thus representing the infinitesimal

proportion of 1 ¼ of an inch of the claim. 




During

the first six months of 1875 the output of the ore was valued at a million and

a half a month and the shares were sold, as already related, as high as $710

per share, the price quoted January 7 1875, which represented an aggregate

value of $153,360,000 for the 216,000 shares issued. But this fabulous

valuation was enormously increased later. The original capital stock of

California was enlarged on February 4, 1875, to 540,000 shares, and on March

14, 1876, a similar course was taken with Con. Virginia. California after the

increase was sold as high as $90 per share, representing a valuation of

$486,000,000, and Con. Virginia sold as high as $86, the two mines being thus

speculatively rated at nearly a billion dollars. 




Although

the term speculatively rated is used in describing the valuation placed on

these properties the fact that after the subdivision the price of California

ranged about $60 during the year 1875, and that it mounted to $87 in January,

1876, to $90 on February 24th, and that it kept near that figure until March

23rd, when it was $88 indicates the degree of confidence felt in the richness

of the mine, and the same comment applies to Con. Virginia, which was quoted

for some time at near the price made immediately after the increase of the

number of shares. These stocks represented dividend paying properties, but

their value was not determined by the appreciation of investors who rarely

bought with the idea of holding them. The dividend factor was never lost sight

of by those who bought, but the buyer was conscious of the fact that he was at

the mercy of unscrupulous men and was always ready to sell at a profit, and to

hunt cover when signs of an impending storm appeared. 




Some of

the spectacular rises in value produced by efforts to obtain control have been

referred to, but they do not illustrate the uncertainty of the market and the

trickiness of manipulators near so effectively as the statement that between

November 4 and December 2, 1875, California was depressed from $54 to $21 a

share, and that Ophir which sold at $65 October 6, 1875, was down to $39 on

November 4th. In the slang of the street the manipulators "caught the

suckers coming and going." The moths fluttering near the flame were

constantly having their wings singed, and not infrequently their existence

wiped out, but the game went on merrily. The rich mines paid dividends, but the

men who controlled them were able to arrange matters so that what they paid out

found its way back into their coffers, albeit by a circuitous route which was

eagerly traveled by a community crazed by dreams of sudden wealth. 




The

extent of the infatuation can be measured by the confidence of the brokers who

up to the very eve of the collapse were planning to extend their operations. On

the 1st of June 1875, the San Francisco Stock and Exchange Board increased its

membership to 100 by adding 20 new names, a list of which has an historical

value. They were William Sharon, James C. Flood, Robert F. Morrow, James 




D. Fry,

William S. O'Brien, Alexander Austin, George M. Pinney, Richard C. Hooker,

Charles N. Felton, H. H. Scott, John P. Jones, L. T. Haggin, H. Hart, Samuel B.

Wakefield, Charles S. Neal, George T. Mayre, Jr., Marcus P. Hall, Eugene E.

Dewey, Joseph Quay, and Martin Herman. These new seats were sold for $25,000 a

piece. A year later there were transfers ranging from $25,000 to $40,000 Robert

C. Page paying the latter sum. Even after the bottom had dropped out the fact

was scarcely recognized by those eager to profit at the expense of the

credulous, a transfer at $10,000 being made during 1879 when it was foolishly

imagined by some that there was to be a revival of what had become mockingly

called "the mining stock industry." 




What was

characterized as "a stupid and deplorable incident" resulted in the

creation of a rival board in 1875, which was known as the Pacific Stock Exchange.






E. J.

Baldwin, whose good fortune had earned for him the nickname of

"Lucky," at that time one of the largest operators on the San

Francisco Stock and Exchange Board, having forgotten his ticket was refused

admission by the doorkeeper. He left in a towering rage swearing that he would

start a rival board and he kept his threat. There were plenty eager to break in

who were ready to join him in the new enterprise, and on the 19th of May 1875,

the Pacific Stock Exchange was organized. It maintained an existence during the

vicissitudes of the years succeeding the failure of the Bank of California, and

was finally absorbed by the older concern on September 8, 1904, when the latter

was in a condition nearly moribund. 




Baldwin

was one of the conspicuous figures in the frequent combats for control but was

never in the foremost rank, although he was a large operator. In 1874, he

contended with Sharon for the mastery of Ophir, but the latter, who had bought

James Keene's interest in the mine outgeneraled Baldwin after a contest in the

course of which stock that sold at $65 was gradually driven up to $150. During

this deal the street was greatly bewildered by the tactics of the Sharon

interest, the brokers for which appeared to be buying and selling Ophir with

singular impartiality. Although the method resulted in occasional instances of

compulsory repurchase of stocks which had been sold to deceive, it proved

successful and Baldwin failed in his efforts to obtain control. Many of the

struggles for control occurred over claims, the possession of which would prove

advantageous to those dominating Con. Virginia. A contest of this sort arose

over Central No. 1, and Central No. 2, two small claims extending northward

from Con. Virginia to the Ophir line. A strike of rich ore had been made in

Central No. 1 and Flood and O'Brien determined to get possession of it in order

to strengthen their position, and there was a considerable flurry in

consequence. Occasionally in contests of this sort the broker availed himself of

the knowledge gained by his dealings. It is related of a broker employed by

Flood that he bought for his own account 500 shares of a stock which was driven

up from $35 to $72, and that instead of taking his winning, which would have

exceeded $10,000, he decided to hold his purchase. He subsequently realized a

large fortune from the dividends, and the rise in value of his shares, and

retired to New York in 1876 with something like $5,000,000. 




The

professional integrity of brokers was rarely called into question. The methods

employed appeared to give opportunities for shirking obligations but they were

rarely abused. Shuck states that "a new member in making a sale or

purchase on the street would state the name of his broker in the board. His

word would be taken and the transaction compared with the absent broker, and

such was the honor and integrity of all concerned, that I cannot recollect a

single transaction that was afterward repudiated, although wide differences

would occur in the value of the stocks when the board met." Considering

the turpitude of the manipulators of the market, this may seem like an

undeserved eulogy, but it is amply borne out by the records, which furnish

abundant testimony that the people who had dealings with the brokers placed implicit

confidence in them, and that they retained it to the last. 




There

was no reason why the broker should stray from the path of rectitude. His

rewards were large and he incurred no risks, except those involved in

surrendering to the temptations which his real or fancied knowledge of

situations subjected him. That his information was not always of the best is

attested by numerous anecdotes. It was reported that Coll Deane bought from

James R. Keene 1,000 shares of Con. Virginia at $800 "buyer 90." It

never reached that figure, but the belief was entertained by the brokers that

the stock would go to $3,000. Another incident is related in which Flood

figured. When Con. Virginia was selling at about $100 the holder of 1,000

shares told the bonanza king that he was tired of the stock and that he would

like to get rid of it. Flood promptly offered him $100 which he accepted with

equal promptitude, thus permitting the purchaser to remark subsequently that

the Nevada block was built out of the profits of the transaction. 




It is

not surprising that there were some who got tired. Playing in a game in which a

shrinkage of the value of a stock amounted to forty per cent in a single day

was not a very restful occupation. California on one occasion broke suddenly

from $500 and sold as low as $300. Violent changes of this character were

produced by the circulation of reports, whose origin could not always be

traced, but were usually supposed to emanate from the inside. In this case the

break was due to a story that a "horse" had been struck. There may

have been a body of barren ore, as represented, but its presence did not

destroy the confidence of the operators, nor induce them to sacrifice their

shares. The sufferers were the credulous people who were equally ready to accept

the manufactured reports of disaster as they were those of finds of Midas like

riches. The same kind of men who were panic stricken by a report which caused a

drop of $200 a share bought with eagerness when a fresh rumor was circulated

that the barren rock had been passed and only rich ore was again in sight. 




Sometimes,

however, the rigging of the market was overdone. The breaks and recoveries were

repeated so frequently that the belief would take hold of the people that

"the bottom had dropped out." But these periods of distrust were not

of long duration. During the frenzy the normal condition was a lamb-like

confidence which was not disturbed by the sight of the shearer whose glittering

shears fascinated rather than repelled. The sheep submitted to be regularly

shorn until there was no more wool on the old ones, and while the fresh crop of

lambs was growing up things happened from which even silly lambkins could learn

a lesson and profit by what they had learned. 


















 





CHAPTER XLIX. THE BURSTING OF THE STOCK

SPECULATION BUBBLE 





AMERICAN

interdependence has resulted in making the United States the greatest

commercial nation on the globe. The fact is sometimes disguised by the

publication of statistics of external trade in a manner which obscures the

vastness of domestic transactions, but when the latter are duly emphasized, as

they usually are by rational men, the American preponderance is made manifest.

This superiority and the resulting integrations has its advantages, but it is

also subject to drawbacks. The whole world is now united by commercial bonds of

varying strength, but those which bind the states of the Union together have no

weaknesses. They have united the country so firmly commercially that an injury

to one part is immediately felt by all the other parts, and business disasters

or prosperity have ceased to be sectional. 




This was

not always the ease. The isolation of California before the completion of the

transcontinental railroad, and the peculiar industrial conditions produced by

the extraction of enormous quantities of gold, in a manner insulated the state

and prevented it being seriously affected by the commercial adversities of the

rest of the Union. This exemption did not immediately disappear when railroad

communication was established. During the early Seventies, there was

exceptional prosperity in the Eastern states, but, as has been shown, San

Francisco for the first two years of the decade was afflicted with meetings of

unemployed; and those who had the interests of the City at heart were greatly

disturbed over the outlook for the future which did not seem at all hopeful,

owing to the unfortunately one sided distribution of the land, which was

recognized as a great obstacle to the development of the agricultural resources

of the state. 




The

bonanza discoveries, as already related, effected a change which disguised the

true situation. While the riches extracted from the Nevada mines were being

poured into the laps of San Franciscans the problems which had disturbed them

before 1872 were forgotten. Business of all sorts nourished because those who

made money in mines and who won in stock deals expended it freely. It was a

boom period. The sales of real estate increased threefold in as many years, and

building operations were extensive, giving abundant employment to workers. The

merchants prospered because the money so easily obtained was freely spent upon

articles of luxury, the sales of which brought big profits to the vendors. 




In 1878,

on September 18th, the most extraordinary panic ever witnessed in the United

States began. The first three-quarters of the year had been prosperous, but on

the date mentioned Jay Cooke & Co., failed, and a financial storm followed

which almost destroyed the banking system of the country. The panic endured an

entire month, and did not spend itself until it had swept away the savings of

the toiler, and the capital of those engaged in industrial pursuits. The

depression that followed lasted until 1877, when more troubles were added by

the extensive railroad strikes of that year, and there were no signs of

recovery until 1878. During the most exciting period of this financial storm

San Francisco serenely pursued her way, scarcely affected by the disasters of

the East. There is no evidence that the failure of the Bank of California and

the subsequent depression in the City after that event were in any wise

connected with the misfortunes of the people on the other side of the Rocky

Mountains. They were purely local in their origin and were easily traced. No

investigator of the subject has hesitated to assign the cause, but in framing

the indictments against those responsible for the disaster the specifications

have often been drawn up in such a fashion that the real culprits have escaped

criticism. 




The Bank

of California closed its doors on the 26th of August 1875. Almost up to the

moment of failure the institution had been regarded as a Gibraltar of finance.

It is said that there were persons who were aware of the condition of the bank

on the morning of the 26th. That there were rumors of disaster is certain, but

they did not shake the general confidence. A broker named Jones who had a

deposit of $75,000, and Glazier & Co. with $400,000 to their credit

despised the rumors, but Ed. F. Hall & Co., a large firm less confident,

during the day withdrew $250,000. A broker, Maurice Schmitt, who had presented

checks amounting to $14,000 and was told to wait awhile when he communicated

the fact to his banker was advised not to speak of the matter as the Bank of

California was as sound as any in the City. But distrust spreads with lightning

rapidity. At two o'clock there was a small crowd at the teller's window, but

not a number sufficient to attract attention; at 2:15 P. M. it had swollen to

proportions indicating a run; at 2:30 the string extended to the curb of the

sidewalk on California street; at 2:40 P. M., Ralston was seen walking from his

office to the teller's desk, whom he directed to cease paying out any more

money, and the porter was directed to close the iron doors. San Francisco's

greatest financial institution had failed. 




William

C. Ralston, the manager of the Bank of California, was a remarkable man, and

one of extraordinary ability. Before the failure there was no" one in San

Francisco whose popularity even remotely approached his, and it was based on

actions which always claim the esteem of a community. His enterprise was

boundless and, apart from his operations in the speculative whirl, was always

directed towards the promotion of industry. He was enthusiastically of the

opinion that San Francisco could be made a great manufacturing center, and to

help achieve that end he promoted and took a direct interest in the creation of

several important establishments. Among the manufacturing enterprises in which

he was directly concerned were the Mission Woolen Mills, the Kimball Carriage

Factory, the West Coast Furniture Company, the San Francisco Sugar Refinery and

many others. His activities were by no means confined to manufacturing or to

San Francisco. He was foremost among the contributors to the construction of

the fine dry dock at Hunter's Point, and actively promoted the work of

reclamation on Sherman island. He divined the future of irrigation, and took a

substantial interest in the building of the San Joaquin irrigating canal. The

desire to see San Francisco a great city was a mania with him, and at a time

when the dry rot of the inaction produced by the too stringently economical

Consolidation Act had hold of the City, he sought by individual initiative to

bring about civic improvements which the people in their collective capacity

shrunk from making. To this latter tendency he owed much of the harsh criticism

which followed his death. 




There

was nothing that would contribute to the advancement of the City neglected by

him. The Grand hotel, the pride of San Francisco in the opening years of the

Seventies was largely built with capital provided by him, and it was he who

projected and partly completed the Palace hotel, which for several years after

its opening enjoyed the distinction of being spoken of as the largest and best

appointed hotel in the world. In like fashion, and with the same object in

view, that of making the City attractive, he was instrumental in causing the

California theater, which surpassed any previous constructions of the kind in

the City, to be constructed. The opening of New Montgomery street was due to

his energy, and the far-reaching scheme of securing a vast watershed which

would develop a sufficient quantity of water to supply the needs of a great

city is attributed to him by men who derided his acumen and persuaded the

people to adopt a course which has ever since proved a shirt of Nessus to the

community. 




Ralston

was born in Ohio in 1825, and began his career as a clerk on a Mississippi river

steamboat. He started for California in 1850, but his journey was interrupted

at Panama where he obtained a position as agent for Garrison & Morgan, from

which he was promoted to the agency in San Francisco in 1853. While thus

engaged, the firm started a banking house and took him into partnership. He

displayed remarkable business talent, and his tact and ability enabled the

concern formed when Garrison & Morgan retired to weather the numerous

financial storms of the early days. In 1858, he was in partnership with

Donahoe, but the operations of the firm were too circumscribed to satisfy his

ambition, and in 1864 he joined with Darius O. Mills and several other

capitalists in founding the Bank of California, whose cashier he became, D. O.

Mills being its first president, retiring in 1872 when the presidency was given

to Ralston. 




After

the failure of the Bank of California in 1875, the management of Ralston was

reflected upon by critics who sought to put on his shoulders the entire onus of

the disaster. It was charged that the aid extended to many of the local

enterprises, the most of which proved unremunerative, were made without the

knowledge of the other directors of the bank, but the history of the

institution discredits the criticism, and indeed shows that unprofitable as

these enterprises were, the losses which they occasioned to Ralston and the

bank could have been borne had there not occurred a tremendous shrinkage of

stocks owned by, or upon which large sums had been loaned by the institution,

undoubtedly with the full knowledge of the directory. 




The most

prominent name connected with that of Ralston was that of William Sharon. He

was a San Francisco broker whose abilities had attracted the attention of

capitalists connected with the Bank of California, and was sent by them to

Nevada where he conducted a banking business which was chiefly confined to

advancing money on stocks. Incidentally he acted as confidential agent of

"the bank crowd." In addition to the pursuit of banking of a sort

which it would be difficult to induce the present generation to regard as

legitimate, Sharon engaged in promoting the construction of ore crushing mills

which he was finally enabled to control by foreclosure or through other

methods. Sharon and Ralston had early established close relations, and their

connection undoubtedly furnished the opportunities which the former availed

himself of to make himself enormously rich. Sharon was commonly supposed to

have the support of the Bank of California, and he soon became the most

important man in Nevada. A corporation was formed known as the United Mill and

Mining Company of which Sharon became president and manager, and it took over

nearly all of the mills on the Comstock lode and secured a practical monopoly

of the ore crushing, by which means the profits of mining were almost entirely

absorbed. The monopoly thus acquired was strengthened by obtaining possession

of the principal water supply, and of the railroad which hauled the necessary

timbers used in the mines. 




During

the period of prosperity Ralston essayed the role of Lorenzo the Magnificent.

He caused to be built in the Canada del Raimundo in San Mateo county a spacious

and beautiful country residence which he called Belmont, and in which he

entertained on a lavish scale. While the sun of prosperity shone on the banker

there was nothing but praise and admiration of his hospitality, the

magnificence of which was extolled as reflecting credit on San Francisco and

California. But when the clouds of adversity closed about him and he was no

longer here to defend himself, the practices which had made the bosoms of San

Franciscans swell with pride were denounced as extravagances, and venomous

critics intimated that the display was all a part of a scheme to bamboozle and

confuse the people by its glitter. 




When the

doors of the Bank of California closed on the 26th of August 1875, there were

few who thought that they would be reopened and the institution rehabilitated,

and when Ralston's career culminated the next day by drowning this conviction

became general. On the day following the closing Ralston was deposed from his

position of president and manager. Immediately after the meeting at which this

action was taken he proceeded to Black Point where he was accustomed to taking

swimming baths. He swam out some distance and was seen struggling in the water.

A boat put off to his assistance, but when taken aboard, although vigorous

efforts were made it was impossible to resuscitate him. Many of the

circumstances pointed to suicide but a large part of the community refused to

believe that he had taken his own life because they felt assured, despite the

shock given to confidence by the failure of the bank, that his abilities would

be equal to the task of restoring the institution, and that he would have had

the courage to make the attempt when his associates called upon him to do so,

as they would inevitably had he not been drowned. 




The

examination of the condition of the bank after the death of Ralston disclosed

that its capital had been greatly impaired. Enemies of Ralston charged that he

had misappropriated four or five millions of its funds. This may have been

true, but not in the sense implied, for it is obvious that his associates must

have been familiar with most of his undertakings, and that they approved of

them. That there was laxity of management was admitted by friendly critics, but

it was claimed by them that there was no turpitude. The fact is Ralston was the

victim of a faulty system of banking and an unbounded ambition. There were no

restraints on the methods of bankers, and no examinations. Practices which

would now be denounced as grossly irregular, and result in the closing down of

an institution, were then freely engaged in by the most irreproachable bankers

without inviting adverse comment. 




The

inevitable consequence of this looseness was the creation of a sense of power

which made managers lose sight of their trust and caused them to regard the

institutions with which they were connected as instruments for the attainment

of their own ends. No one can escape this conclusion who will study the actions

of those responsible for the conduct of the Bank of California on the day of

its failure. They were engaged in a life and death struggle with men who were

disputing their supremacy in the financial world and the result proved

disastrous to them. Flood and O'Brien had become the great leaders in the stock

market, and were ambitious to enter the field of finance. Sharon and his

associates were determined to destroy them if possible. On the day of the

failure of the Bank of California at the 11 o'clock session Sharon sent in a

selling order which by comparison dwarfed any ever before given on the board.

It was of such magnitude and was executed with such swiftness that the broker scarcely

looked at his book as a stock was called. He simply sold as long as there was a

bid offered without making a record of his transactions. As the order developed

itself buyers became shy and wary, and when the battle was over Flood and

O'Brien were still masters of their position. The stocks of the mines they

controlled had been badly hammered, but they had won out. California which had

been sold at $59.50 @ $56 on August 25th, on the 26th was quoted at $56.50 and

after the board sales on the street were made at $48; Con. Virginia was $290 @

$263 on the 25th, on the 26th $267.50 @ $250, and after the board $240; Ophir

during the combat went from $54 to $55 @ $43 and the street bid was $36. 




The only

reasonable inference that can be drawn from the events of the day of the

failure is that what was known as the bank crowd acted in unison, and that the

harmony existing between them would not have been disturbed if the combat had

turned out differently. The victory of Flood and O'Brien, so far as it concerned

their banking aspirations was a barren one. That they hoped to utterly crush

the Bank of California crowd and build a new bank on the ruins of that

institution was generally believed, but the laws of California, lax as they

were on the score of regulation, were efficacious enough to prevent the

consummation of the scheme of vengeance. It was at first contemplated by those

who had taken over the control of the Bank of California after Ralston's

deposition to declare the institution insolvent, but the liability of

stockholders law compelled another course, and rehabilitation was decided upon

which was chiefly accomplished through the efforts of William Sharon, who also

undertook the completion of the Palace hotel then in course of construction. 




Although

the Bank of California was not destroyed, the ambition of Flood and O'Brien to

figure in the financial world was realized. On the 4th of October 1875, they

opened a new bank, which they called the Nevada, and on the following day the

rehabilitated Bank of California opened its doors. It is not without

significance that the Stock Board, which had suspended operations when the Bank

of California failed, opened and resumed business the same day that the Bank of

California assumed its old-time place which it succeeded in doing by paying

dollar for dollar of its liabilities within six weeks of its reopening. The new

Nevada bank took its place and became a factor in San Francisco finances, but

it never realized the hope of its founders. It was a sound institution with

abundance of capital, but it never became a real power, and when distrust of

the mining stock game took possession of the community its influence waned and

disappeared entirely. 




The

events which led to the destruction of confidence and its effects have been

variously described, but the evidence is not convincing that the speculative

tendencies of San Franciscans were wholly responsible for their troubles, or

that they were cured by awful examples or repeated deceptions. They were

occasionally staggered by disclosures, but they did not cease playing the role

of dupe until the vitality of the community had become sapped to such an extent

that a dry season, by cutting down the productions of the state, had so

lessened its consuming powers that business of all kinds was adversely

affected. When the hour of adversity came the resources that should have been a

mainstay were not developed, and the earnings of the people and nearly all the wealth

extracted from the mines had passed into the hands of a few men whose vast

fortunes mocked the condition of the reckless who had plunged themselves into

poverty in their efforts to get rich quick. 




To get

rich quick was the general desire, and the besetting sin of the community was

its cheerful surrender of ordinary perception while thus obsessed. It was not

alone the poor and the ignorant who yielded to the temptation, and substituted

credulousness for common sense. Sometimes even the biters were bit. In 1872

when the mining stock speculation was at its height a pair of smooth rascals

mapped out a scheme which was worked up in such detail, and so ingeniously,

that the most suspicious of those who were permitted the privilege of

victimizing themselves fell into the trap as easily as if they were mere lambs.

Philip Arnold and John Slack received the credit of originating the swindle,

but it is more than probable that Asbury Harpending, whose name was made

familiar to the reader in another connection, was the genius by whom it was

evolved and elaborated. 




Arnold

and Slack made their appearance in San Francisco in the year mentioned in the

guise of honest miners. They brought with them a bag of stones which they had

run across in their prospecting rambles. They were not quite sure that they

were what they appeared to be, but they suspected that they were diamonds.

Merely by chance they strayed into Harpending's office and left the bag in his

care cautioning him against speaking about the find until they could satisfy

themselves of its value. Harpending incautiously, of course, made reference to

the deposit in his care, and incidentally expressed the belief that the

suspicions of Arnold and Slack were well founded and that the stones were real

diamonds. His methods were so adroit that a number of capitalists had their

attention enlisted. Pending a thorough investigation of the stones which these

sage men insisted must be pronounced genuine by experts, enough concerning the

wonderful find leaked out to start several parties searching Arizona and Nevada

for the new diamond fields. 




Meanwhile,

after some objections on the part of the owners of the stones, they were sent

to New York where they were examined by Tiffany & Co., and pronounced

genuine by that firm, and the lot valued at about $150,000. When this report

was received the persons whom Harpending had continued to interest proposed to

send an expert named Janin to the field. At first Arnold and Slack demurred,

but were finally persuaded that the expert would deal fairly. Janin was

authorized in the event of his investigations proving satisfactory to obtain an

option from the owners. 




When

these arrangements were concluded Janin with one or two others proceeded to the

locality where Arnold and Slack had found the stones. The spot where the gems

were discovered by them was pointed out, and the expert at once noted other

places in the neighborhood resembling it which were searched and more diamonds

were discovered. Janin's report and the exhibition of a fresh lot of gems

settled the matter. A big company was to be formed which Harpending insisted

should be organized in New York in order to give its operations a wider scope,

but the San Francisco capitalists were too eager to retain control to permit

anything of the sort, and succeeded in nearly monopolizing the affair, only a

few New Yorkers being allowed to share in the "good thing." 




Meantime

the news of the diamond discovery had spread throughout the world. Naturally it

attracted the attention of Clarence King, of the United States geological

survey, who had been over the region in which the find was said to have been

made without discovering any signs of a diamond formation. He at once revisited

the locality, and in searching around he found some of the stones in crevices,

where they had been carelessly dropped by the "salters," and under

such circumstances that he instantly detected the imposition. About the same

time some of the stones sent to London by Harpending were identified as African

diamonds, and it was soon ascertained that a short time before the alleged

discovery by Arnold and Slack a large purchase of gems in the rough had been

made in that city, which were carried to America by the purchasers. King's

report, and the revelation of the London diamond dealers, put an end to the

scheme, which was arrested before it had reached the popular stage, and

consequently the common people were not caught in the skillfully laid trap. The

"honest miners" who had made the discovery managed to keep away from

California, and the courts of this state were not called upon to deal with

them. Later the aggrieved San Francisco capitalists brought suit against Arnold

and Slack in the courts of New Jersey for the sum of $350,000, but nothing ever

came of the proceedings. How much the swindlers gained by the transaction no

one ever learned, for the victims insisted upon preserving a dignified

reticence concerning the subject and bore their losses philosophically. 




A

perfectly sequential narrative might demand in this place the continuance of

the story of the mining stock craze down to its culmination in 1879, when a big

deal revived interest in speculation, which had been seriously interrupted by

the collapse which followed the Bank of California. But it is desirable to.

anticipate the account of the concluding act in the speculative tragedy by a

resume of business conditions in San Francisco after the almost total failure

of crops in the seasonal year 1876-7, and to take a general survey of the

development of the state's resources in order to make perfectly clear the

causes which brought about the so-called sand lot uprising a year later, and to

show its connection with the retardment of industrial development which was

largely brought about by the City's absorption in speculative pursuits. 




It is

difficult to state with precision when the manufacturing industries of San

Francisco promoted by Ralston ceased paying, if they ever did return dividends

to those interested in them. On the surface they appeared to prosper. The

employees were paid regularly, and the number was considerable enough to be a

factor in the work of circulating some of the riches derived from the Nevada

mines. If it is true that Ralston put into these industries a large part of the

money derived from his operations in the mines, he merely diverted the stream

which was flowing into the coffers of a few cunning manipulators into the

pockets of workingmen and through them into the tills of the merchants and

others who provide the necessaries, conveniences and amusements for urban

residents. But, however the results were produced, when the assessor of San

Francisco in 1876 made his report of the condition of the manufacturing

industry of the City, he dwelt on some of its features with pride, and the

presentation was one apparently warranting the feeling, for on its face it

indicated that experience was triumphantly disproving the pessimistic

assumption that factories could not be profitably operated in a high wage

country subject to competition with manufacturers who were producing in places

where the level of remuneration was much lower. 




It

showed that San Francisco had seventeen concerns engaged in the metal industry,

employing 1,705 men, who produced to the value of $4,700,000. This, so far as

the number employed was concerned, was the leading factory occupation in 1876,

but the output of the sugar refineries, which gave work to 280 men, was

$5,155,000. The output of the furniture factories was $2,135,700, and 760 men

were employed, and 930 were engaged in the specialized industry of making

bedsteads, the value of the product being $1,197,200, while 20 found it

profitable to devote themselves exclusively to the manufacture of bed springs,

the output of which was $130,000 in 1876. There were glass works and glass cutting

establishments. Jewelry was produced to the value of $1,240,000 and silver

plate to the amount of $260,000, these two occupations giving employment to 525

persons. Seven hundred men were employed in woolen mills, which turned out

120,000 pairs of blankets, 15,000 dozens of underwear, 8,000 dozens of hosiery,

450,000 yards of cloth and tweeds and 500 yards of flannels valued at

$1,800,000, over 2,500,000 pounds of California raw wool being consumed in

their production. Tanneries gave employment to 325 men, producing leather

valued at $1,345,000. Harness factories worked 300 and produced $330,000 worth

of their specialty. The domestic consumption of shirts was largely met by a

product of $650,000, turned out by 640 workers, and 147 were engaged in making hats

and caps, the annual output of which was $413,000. Slippers to the value of

$310,000 were produced by 370, and a half a million dollars worth of cordage

and rope helped to swell the list of products. The coffee and spice mills gave

employment to 124 and the flouring mills to 128 workers. Over a half a million

barrels of flour were produced and the product of the coffee and spice mills

was worth $1,327,170. In addition to these we find enumerated among the

manufacturing industries that of amalgamating pans, axle grease, barrels,

carriage springs, distilleries, furs, gloves, glue, hose and belting, ink and

mucilage, ice, linseed oil, shoe lasts, soap, telegraph instruments, tools,

type, vinegar, windmills, wood and willow ware and wire rope. 




The

informed will note in this list the presence of numerous branches of industry

no longer pursued in San Francisco, and of several whose proportions have

shrunk greatly since 1876. The causes which brought about this change have been

treated as enigmatical, but they appear plain to unbiassed economists who have

studied them. They were not closely analyzed at first and they are still the

subject of dispute, but, indirectly at least, there is a general recognition of

the fact that Eastern manufacturers, whose extensive market permits them to

specialize, can produce more cheaply than competitors whose outputs are limited

by the comparatively small populations surrounding them. 




It was

the general failure to perceive this fact that led to many blunders, not the

least serious of which has been the persistent determination on the part of the

worker to create by artificial methods a condition which cannot be maintained

while there is free commercial intercourse between all parts of the Union. It

has been demonstrated that nations by effective customs laws may succeed in

raising the standard of living of workers within their borders, and enable them

to enjoy higher wages than in other countries, but it is unthinkable that such

a result could be achieved if they permitted the producers of other countries

free access to their markets. In that event the rewards of peoples of nearly

like capabilities would be sure to find a common level. Some would go down in

the scale, others would ascend, but the level would certainly be attained. California

began to have that problem forced upon her when the railroads and other

transportation companies in their eagerness to secure traffic, broke down the

barriers of distance which had for a time afforded the workers an incidental

protection. Her people were not quick to detect her vulnerability, and the

worker refused to recognize the disadvantage which sometimes stared him in the

face, but which was often disguised by changes in the development of the

state's resources. 




As

already shown the comparatively swift decline of placer mining was in a measure

compensated by the spectacular increase in wheat and wool production at a time

when the cereal and the raw material were commanding remunerative prices.

Exports of breadstuffs were valued at $15,813,941 in 1875 and in 1880 they had

increased to $23,762,557. Between July 1, 1876, and June 30, 1877, there were

received in San Francisco 514,298 barrels of flour and 10,803,776 centals of

wheat, the most of which was exported. In the same season in which this large

surplus of wheat was raised 53,110,742 pounds of wool were produced. The sums

derived from these two great staples were the chief dependence of the people

outside of the yield of the mines and when the latter was subjected to a

violent shrinkage, as it was in 1877, concurrently with a crop failure and a

diminished wool clip due to the drouth, there were hard times. 




The

seasonal year 1876-77 was exceedingly dry and the wheat crop was a failure, and

as a consequence exports were greatly curtailed, dropping from 12,087,759 to

5,295,911 centals. The wool clip decreased from 53,110,742 to 40,862,061

pounds. The records of the railroad show a corresponding diminution in the

output of other staples. In the face of expanding facilities the East bound

shipments, which aggregated 107,756,910 pounds in 1876, dropped to 92,820,900

pounds in 1878. The isthmian traffic records ceased to be very dependable after

1875. 




The

Pacific Mail Steamship Company after that year no longer exerted itself to

secure business, but there is evidence that it was sharing the evil effects of

the general depression, which was caused by the failure of the state's

agricultural resources. 




A

diminished mineral yield in California and Nevada, a greatly curtailed output

of the cereals, dwindling flocks of sheep and herds of cattle, started a

cityward movement which aggravated a situation already acute. The population of

San Francisco, reported in the census of 1870 at 149,473, had probably

increased to 225,000 by 1877, and the number of workers it included was largely

in excess of the ability of the industries of the City to furnish employment.

With the decline of the mining stock craze an era of retrenchment began, and

mercantile establishments which had employed help on a generous scale, paying

liberal salaries, contracted their forces and threw on their own resources many

who had been working in clerical capacities. 




The army

of unemployed thus reinforced became formidable. There was undoubted distress

and efforts were made to relieve it, but the numbers demanding relief made the

problem difficult to deal with. The pangs of poverty are usually conducive to

discontent, but in this case dissatisfaction was accentuated by the feeling

that conditions which might have been remedied were responsible for the

desperate position in which men willing to work, but unable to find anything to

do, were placed by neglect and the rapacity of individuals. When such a

situation arises every abuse is recalled, and the circumstances over which men

have no control are not considered. The shortage of the crops was not dwelt

upon, but the disposition to favor large land holders was remembered; the

fatuity of a people who permitted themselves to be fleeced by cunning

manipulators was never referred to, but the greed of the market riggers was

emphasized; if the men who built the transcontinental railroad had conferred

any benefit by opening the state to settlement, the fact was overlooked, and

only the sins of the providers of the improved transportation facilities were

remembered. 




But the

undiscriminating mob was not alone in thus viewing the situation. Every bitter

word uttered on the sand lot was merely an echo of the criticisms of the daily

press, whose columns teemed with suggestions of jobbery and open accusations,

which indicated a wretched state of affairs, and an appalling disregard of

public opinion by politicians. It was a period of intense suspicion, in which

every enterprise of a municipal character was viewed with distrust and not

without reason. Bossism was rampant, and its ramifications were national. There

never was a time when jobbers were so audacious, or when schemers were more

predatory than when Kearney and his hearers roared their disapproval on the

sand lots, and it may be asserted without calling forth a contradiction from

those who really knew, that the charges preferred against venal officialism

from that rostrum were better founded than those of the twentieth century

Progressives, many of whom in the late Seventies were profoundly convinced that

the sand letters were rank socialists, although they then spoke of the

so-called reforms as "destructive agrarianism." 




Unless

the condition described is clearly comprehended the significance of the sand

lot uprising, and the adoption of the constitution of 1879, will always be

misunderstood. The instrument named has been referred to by grave historians as

a product of the sand lot, and so it was in a way, but not in the way assumed. 




As will

be seen later on it was not shaped in the convention by the delegates of the

workingman's party, but was constructed by the ablest lawyers in the State of

California, many of them in the employ of the detested railroad corporation,

but apparently uninfluenced by any other motive than the desire to frame an

organic law which would effect all the reforms demanded by the people. That the

most of the objects they sought to achieve are now extolled as progressive

reforms when taken up in other states, completely refutes the impression

generally derived from the earlier accounts, and discredits the judgment of

those who imagined and freely predicted that the result of the reforms it

sought to introduce would be to drive capital from the state and hinder its

progress. 




In his

"History of California," Hittell, whose judgment was clouded by a

strong personal bias, in his narration of the events leading up to and

following the adoption of the new constitution, says: "No other state has

had a more difficult part to play in its advance, particularly of late years —

handicapped as it has been by a larger number of tramps, vagrants and

disorderly classes in general, in proportion to population, than any other

state, and trammeled and hampered by the conditions and anomalies impressed

upon the constitution and laws of the transitory and malignant influence of the

sand lot." In view of this indictment, which undoubtedly expressed the

opinion of a large class at the time he wrote, it is worthwhile to examine his

charges minutely and to judge by the light of results whether he put his finger

on the real sore spot. It concerns the San Franciscan more particularly to get

at the exact truth, for the instrument arraigned by him, while it received its

popular majority outside of the City, was really an outcome of an agitation

within its borders. Whether the constitution proved the barrier to progress he

intimates it did, the reader will be able to judge from what follows. 





CHAPTER L. CONDITIONS ON EVE OF ADOPTION OF

THE CONSTITUTION OF 1879 





THE

earlier history of San Francisco politics is so inextricably connected with

that of the state it is impossible to dissociate the former from the latter.

There was no event that occurred prior to 1879 in the City which was not in

some manner linked up with the state's affairs, and no municipal enterprise of

any sort could be carried through unless it was first sanctioned by the

legislature. The evil consequences of this system were clearly recognized, and

had been pointed out in a workingman's convention which met in 1871, and in

1876 Mayor Bryant, in his inaugural message, referred to them in these terms.

Speaking of certain irregularities which marked the previous administration he

said: "It has been the custom for heads of departments in the city

government, and sometimes even their subordinates to ignore the board of

supervisors and make direct application to the legislature in furtherance of

schemes not designed for the public good so much as to increase their own

profit, power and patronage." 




This but

feebly represents the condition of affairs produced by the special legislative

system which made the state legislature the arbiter of the destinies of the

City. It practically gave official sanction to lobbying by permitting and

almost making it necessary for municipal servants to visit Sacramento during the

sessions of the legislature in order to press the needs of the City, and to

back up the demands of the delegation for recognition. The opportunities this

practice presented to venal servants were eagerly seized, and it was not

uncommon during the Seventies to see San Francisco municipal officials haunting

the lobbies of the capitol engaged in the all-around work of the professional

lobbyist, their business being but thinly veiled by the pretense that their

presence was required in Sacramento to secure action on some city measure. 




If the

vice of special legislation had ended with this disreputable practice the evil

might have been borne with some patience, but the activities of the legislative

delegations, and the manipulation of the city officials merely inaugurated the

trouble to which San Francisco was subjected by being deprived of the

management of her own affairs, and by having imposed upon her a rigid system of

operation which, while designed to prevent rascality and promote economy,

produced the opposite result. The construction of the city hall affords an

instance of the injurious workings of this inflexible method. It was marked by

blunders and extravagances from the day of the creation of the commission down

to the time of the great fire, when it was destroyed before it was completed. 




A report

was made to the legislature of 1873-74 that the city hall begun in 1870 had

already cost unconscionable sums and was destined to cost more. It exposed many

instances of gross carelessness and something worse; but the charges made no

impression at the time. Finally, in sheer desperation boards of supervisors

were compelled to come to the relief of the suffering taxpayers and protect

them from depredation by refusing to appropriate the necessary money to prosecute

the work. The original plan of piecemeal construction which legislative action

had imposed was doubtless demanded by the people of the City, who during the

closing years of the Sixties and the opening of the Seventies had acquired an

abnormal dread of bonded indebtedness. They had become so firmly imbued with

the idea that the only safe municipal policy was that of "pay as you

go," they were unable to perceive the ineffectiveness and ruinous

consequences of the installment plan and chose to have their money wasted

rather than stolen. 




The site

of the new city hall was that of an abandoned cemetery, from which the bodies

were removed to clear the way for the new structure which the projectors

designed making the handsomest and most imposing municipal building in the

United States. The plans of an architect named Laver, who had achieved some

reputation as the designer of the capital at Albany, New York, which at the

time was popularly supposed to represent the highest American achievement in

monumental construction, were selected, and it was estimated that the new hall

would cost about a million and a half and that it could be completed in five or

six years. There were plenty to dissent from these alluring figures and

promises, and predictions were freely made that the expenditures would greatly

surpass the estimates and that it would take years to make it ready for

occupancy, but their criticism produced no effect. 




Laver's

original plans were not entirely harmonious; they exhibited a liberal admixture

of the orders, but he was not responsible for some of the incongruities which

the building exhibited when approaching completion. He had originally designed

a lofty clock tower and a mansard roof, and had this plan been carried out in

its integrity there would have been a near approach, so far as the general

effect was concerned, to the French renaissance; but the commission, influenced

by varying motives (sometimes they were those of expediency dictated by the

demand for economy, and at other times the product of mere whimsicalness

begotten by lack of knowledge of architectural requirements), changed the

steeple to a dome and cut out the mansard, thus giving the main structure a

squatty appearance, not at all pleasing, and depriving it of the power to

impress by its mass, which it would have possessed had the resort to the flat

roof not given it the effect of a number of detached buildings. 




The

first blunder made by the commission was perpetrated under the pressure of the

demand for economy, and resulted in the sale of that part of the cemetery

fronting on Market street. The effect was to put the new hall on a back street.

The work of building had not proceeded far before the mistake was discovered

and denounced, and in 1875 we find Acting Mayor Hewston, in an address to the

board of supervisors, criticizing the absurdity and urging that the lots on

Market street be reacquired by purchase. His recommendation was instantly

pounced upon and accusations of attempted jobbery were freely made. Nothing

came of his suggestion and it was never seriously put forward again, and the

work of building proceeded slowly, only such money as could be obtained by the

imposition of a direct tax being used for that purpose. In 1876, the mayor in

his report called attention to the fact that the hall of records was still in

course of construction, and that the original plan of providing its dome with a

cast iron roof had been abandoned, and that sheet iron was to be substituted in

its stead. 




Object

lessons of the kind described were eagerly seized upon, and the disaffected who

met on the sand lot adjoining the hall were constantly being reminded of the

waste and blundering involved in the construction of the Municipal building.

They also were reminded of the delinquencies of public servants, who had abused

the public trust by stealing the people's money. There had been several serious

defalcations during the decade, one of them almost on the eve of the uprising.

The other occurred in 1874. In that year John A. Stanley, county judge of San

Francisco, charged the grand jury to investigate the failure of Mayor Otis and

Treasurer Charles Hubert to count the money in the treasury as required by law.

The accusation was the signal for a separation into camps. The friends of the

mayor and treasurer held a big meeting and denounced Stanley. A few days later

there was another gathering, more representative in character, which sustained

Stanley and demanded the return to the treasury of about $1,500,000, which had

been illegally deposited in a private bank by the tax collector, but it was a

case of locking the door after the steed had escaped. Three hundred thousand

dollars had vanished. It was never restored and no one was punished. 




These

were but the spectacular phases of municipal mismanagement. A far more serious

cause for discontent was the growth of expenditures. The newspaper critics

pointed out that the City had managed to get along in 1869 with a budget of

$2,459,210, and that in 1876 it had increased to $4,452,940, and they persisted

in asking where the money had gone to and where the extravagance would end. The

intemperance of utterance on the rostrum in front of the city hall when this

subject was under discussion did not exceed that of the editors of conservative

journals, the only distinguishing difference being in the choice of words. The

moral drawn was the same in the sanctum as on the sand lot, where the orators

emphasized their criticisms by shaking menacing fists at the municipal pile. 




There

was some excuse for strong criticism in the public journals and on the stump.

Much money was being spent, but there was little or nothing in the way of

improvement to show for the expenditure. The indignant acting mayor, who was

chosen by the board of supervisors to fill the unexpired term of Otis, who had

died, declared that the plank streets and sidewalks of the City were

detestable, "not only in the inconvenience of the travel over them, and

their want of durability, but in a sanitary point of view." "They

were receptacles of filth," he said, and he added "my observation has

led me to believe that many valuable lives have been sacrificed to their

condition." Prior to 1871 the City had accepted the streets from houseline

to houseline, but after that date it only took care of the roadway. While this

appeared to be in the line of municipal economy there was so little attention

paid to sidewalks by the owners of property that they were often in a

dilapidated state, and sometimes a menace to pedestrians. Attention was called

by the mayor in 1875 to the fact that there were numerous excavations under the

sidewalks of Kearny street, bridged over with timbers which had rotted,

endangering the lives of citizens. 




The

criticism of these bad results like chickens came home to roost. They were

remembered when the unemployed formulated their protests on the sand lot, and

were charged to the incapacity and venality of the men elected to local

offices. It has been said that Kearney's diatribes were all directed against the

Chinese, but that was due to a mistake growing out of his habit of concluding

his speeches with the set phrase "The Chinese Must Go!" He not

infrequently introduced this slogan into the body of addresses devoted mainly

to municipal subjects. Kearney was the owner of some property, and proudly

announced that he was a taxpayer. He was reasonably familiar with the conduct

of municipal affairs and became very bitter when discussing such public

improvements as the Montgomery avenue extension, which he characterized as a

swindle, and the bondholders as cormorants. He took the same view of the Dupont

street widening act, which he pronounced as a job. In condemning the Montgomery

avenue scheme he was merely voicing the opposition of those who predicted that

it would not accomplish its object — a prophesy that was realized — but he made

a mistake in following the same leadership in the matter of the widening of

Dupont street in 1876, which proved to be a valuable improvement. 




Kearney

was accustomed to using picturesque but inelegant terms when speaking about

public offenders and officials. The latter he lumped together as "blood

sucking politicians," and he had much to say about bossism. The exploits

of William Marcy Tweed, the great municipal corrupter of New York, were much

talked of about this time. After the exposure of his villainies by the

"Times" of that city, and his flight and subsequent capture in Spain,

and his return to the United States in 1876, his misdeeds were the subject of

universal comment. Everywhere he was singled out as a horrible example, and the

wretched mismanagement of the corporation of New York was paraded as something

unique, but Kearney insisted that he was merely a type and charged that San

Francisco had its bosses, whose rascalities were less flagrant than those of

Tweed only because their opportunities were smaller, and he had the

disagreeable habit of publicly naming persons who should be placed in the boss

category. 




It is

necessary to state in this connection that Kearney's indictments were not

always framed exclusively on his own information and belief. He had early

acquired the habit of visiting newspaper offices, and before he aspired to the

leadership of the workingmen had actively interested himself in promoting the

purposes of men against whom he later arrayed himself. Sometimes he penetrated

to the inner sanctums, but mostly he was content to foregather with the

reporters, who welcomed him because he often brought items of news, and for the

amusement they derived from his peppery discourses, which he was prone to

indulge in whenever he could obtain listeners. He undoubtedly used the

influence gained by this intercourse to push himself to the front and later,

when he was able to secure audiences, he utilized the information he had

acquired without discriminating between suspicions and facts. 




The word

"graft" had not attained its present vogue in the Seventies, but the

practice was fully as rampant then as it ever has been since. Indeed, it is

doubtful whether during recent years there has been anything even remotely

approaching the machinery for despoiling the people as that created in

California in the early years of the seventy decade, when the political bosses

acted under the inspiration of men who directly or indirectly controlled the

disbursements of the federal government on the Pacific coast. The earlier

election frauds which were in part responsible for the Vigilante uprising in

1856, were unblushingly repeated by these worthies with some slight variation

of method. There were no longer any false bottomed ballot boxes, but there were

other modes of falsifying the popular verdict which proved equally efficacious.






These,

however, were not practiced for the purpose of controlling the City government

which toward the middle of the decade had become a non-partisan affair, despite

the fact that attempts were made to preserve party lines. The new ballot law,

which grew out of the shameful effort of federal officials to compel the

workingmen at Mare island navy yard to vote the narrow strip of bristol board

called the "tapeworm ticket," had resulted in bringing the bosses

together. There was so much "scratching" that party nominations

became a negligible factor, and those who devoted themselves to political manipulation

found it more expedient to put up men who would serve their purposes. Nominally

they were democrats or republicans, but so far as municipal affairs were

concerned they were for themselves. This apparent abstention from municipal

interference on the part of the local bosses facilitated legislative control,

and resulted in greatly strengthening the power of the railroad. The political

managers of the corporation were chiefly concerned in perpetuating their hold

on the legislature, thus insuring the return of a satisfactory United States

senator, and incidentally, by the use of the election machinery created for the

purpose of maintaining power at Sacramento, keeping the delegation in the lower

house of congress in line. Out of this condition of affairs, and the concurrent

looseness of federal management in Washington which lent itself to a system of

plundering that has since become impracticable, there arose one of the greatest

scandals in the history of San Francisco and which in its consequences was more

far reaching than the Vigilante uprising. 




This

political corruption was intimately connected with the sand lot uprising, but

has been passed over by historians, most of whom have wholly omitted mention of

it from the list of causes that helped to produce the discontent which brought

about the framing and adoption of the constitution of 1879. In the beginning of

the Seventies, William B. Carr, or Billy Carr as he was familiarly known later,

had developed into a local boss of some consequence. His power was originally

gained by acting as a lobbyist at Sacramento for the Central Pacific, his chief

business at the capital being to keep the legislative delegation from San

Francisco in line for the railroad. One of the instruments employed by him to

achieve results was federal patronage, which was dispensed impartially in the

interest of the corporation, and of those it had selected for political favor. 




At that

time, every federal office in San Francisco was filled with men who divided

their allegiance between the government, and the interests or persons who gave

them their positions. They openly identified themselves with political

movements, a practice not forbidden at the time, and practically took charge of

them. The mint, the custom house, the post office and every federal office was

filled with politicians who were more than mere figureheads. The situation was

not unique in San Francisco; it was paralleled in other large cities, but the

remarkable wave of speculation in the early Seventies produced a condition

which caused some peculiarities of management of the federal offices in San

Francisco which were not witnessed elsewhere. 




In the

early part of the decade one Oscar H. La Grange was made superintendent of the

United States mint. He was an appointee of General Grant and his selection was

probably due to his service as a soldier in the Civil war. He was a capable but

a very facile man, and easily accommodated himself to the idea that his

position was to be used for the benefit of the party of which he was a member,

and incidentally to promote the political fortunes of individuals who were in

the saddle at the time. His chief clerk was George M. Pinney, a man of more

than ordinary ability, whose talents, however, were oftener exercised in the

promotion of his own fortunes and of the band of politicians who had put him in

place, than in performing the duties of his office. It was subsequently

disclosed that he was so useful politically that even the limited attention he

gave to his clerical duties in the mint detracted from his value. Consequently,

another job was made for him, which had few or no irksome routine attachments,

and left him free to devote himself to his own and the interests of his

friends. He was made the clerk of United States Naval Pay Inspector Rufus C.

Spalding. The acceptance of this position entailed the enlistment of Pinney in

the navy. The emoluments were small, but that was a matter of small consequence

to Pinney as the sequel will show. Indeed, it is asserted, that he turned over

his salary to someone else, which is not impossible but not very probable as he

really did all the work, and practically took all responsibility from the

shoulders of the pay inspector who, when the exposure was made, admitted that

he hardly knew what was going on in the office over which he had nominal

charge. 




While

Pinney was acting as navy pay inspector's clerk he bought a broker's seat in

the Mining Stock Exchange. He was not as continuously on the floor as other

members who were solely engaged in executing orders, but he made excellent use

of the facilities of the board, and it is believed that during 1872-3 he was

ahead in the speculative game to the extent of a million or more. His luck, as

in many other cases, tempted him further. If his accounts of his transactions

are true he had early associated himself with Carr in mining ventures in Idaho

and other places, some of which proved unprofitable and finally wiped out his

fortune and more, for when he became embarrassed he resorted to practices which

made it seem prudent for him to temporarily absent himself from California. 




On the

1st of September 1875, Pinney disappeared from his wonted haunts and it soon

transpired that he had fled the country. His flight created a mild sensation,

more social than political or financial in its character. It soon leaked out

that he had sailed on a British ship named the "Baron Ballantyne,"

and that he was accompanied by a notorious woman. As Pinney was a married man,

and had established social connections, the interest in his flight centered

upon the desertion, diverting attention from other facts of more general

concern, which were revealed later in a highly sensational fashion. About a

year after his sudden departure interest in the matter was revived by his

abandoned wife obtaining a divorce. This gave occasion for a few days' talk, in

which but scant attention was paid to his financial relations. The statement

that he was in debt, and had defrauded numerous friends and others was widely

disseminated, and there were hints that certain banks had been incautious in

their dealings with the spectacular clerk and politician, but these rumors died

away and were soon forgotten. 




If

Pinney had been content to remain away from California the course of events

might have shaped themselves differently, but he was not. After leaving the

City on the "Baron Ballantyne" he got tired of the woman who had

accompanied him, and according to his own story he made an amicable arrangement

with the captain of the ship, by which the latter acquired possession of the

"lady," and for a further consideration of $2,000 he put his vessel

out of her course and landed the fugitive at the port of Pernambuco in Brazil.

From thence Pinney took another ship, rounded Cape Horn and went to Valparaiso.

He also made a voyage to the Society islands. In his subsequent relations of

his wanderings Pinney was not accustomed to stating his reasons for making

these voyages, but he allowed it to be inferred that a suddenly developed taste

for sea air was responsible for his uneasiness. 




It was

generally supposed at the time of his flight that Pinney had carried a large

sum of money with him, but he afterward declared that he had only $12,000,

which amount was received for the sale of his seat on the stock board, which

was negotiated for him by Carr. On the other hand, it was stated by persons who

had heard of his mode of life in Valparaiso that he was gambling heavily and

spending money with a free hand in that city. Be that as it may, Pinney at last

reached the end of his tether. Although he was discreetly silent regarding

details, it is known that he had vainly sought to persuade Carr and others with

whom he had operated to supply him with additional funds, but they flouted his

requests and disregarded his threats, imagining that he would not dare to

return to the United States. But they were mistaken. One fine day Pinney turned

up in Washington and went straight to the navy department, where he surrendered

himself as a deserter. Rather inconsistently he later stated that he had been

constantly tormented with the fear that he would be arrested but his subsequent

course indicates that he was under no such apprehension. He had no reason for

anticipating that Carr and his political associates would venture to attack him

with such a weapon. They might have set machinery in motion which would have

resulted in his capture, but they could not prevent his speaking if he were

court martialed, and above all things they desired to have things kept quiet. 




Pinney

was of a different mind. Having practically made his peace with the navy

department officials, who regarded him as a white elephant, and concluded to

left him shift for himself, the fugitive clerk betook himself to the office of

the "New York Sun" and there unbosomed himself of a story which was

published simultaneously in New York and in the "Chronicle" of San

Francisco on the 7th of May 1877. At that time, the "Sun" was making

a vigorous assault on Naval Secretary Robeson, and the statements of Pinney

substantiated its accusations against that official which had been made the

basis of an investigation by a committee of the house of representatives. The

story of Pinney, therefore, proved as sensational in New York and Washington as

it did in San Francisco, although it only developed serious consequences in the

latter city, where the revelations of the absconding clerk shook the political

and financial world from center to circumference. The major part of Pinney 's

story, as told in Washington, was devoted to an explanation of the doings of

the navy pay office which, he declared, had been manipulated in the interest of

a gang of contractors and politicians. His disclosures implicated Senator A. A.

Sargent and Congressman Horace F. Page, whom, he declared, were leagued with

men named Montagnie, Hanscom and Jordan, all of whom had intimate relations

with United States Secretary of the Navy Robeson, who had afforded these

contractors unusual facilities for making money. Sargent and Page, in return

for the assistance rendered these contractors, were permitted to manipulate the

federal offices to advance their political interests. Billy Carr, the local

boss, was the active manager of affairs in San Francisco, and in the state, and

kept the fences of the politicians mended while they were absent from California.






At this

particular time, the attitude of the democratic house of representatives

towards naval construction was extremely hostile. It was charged that the navy

department, under the control of Robeson, was corruptly administered and

appropriations for new vessels were refused. The policy met the approval of the

country, the people generally being opposed to the expenditure of large sums of

money for the maintenance of a big army and navy. But congress, while denying

money for the construction of new vessels, made appropriations for the purpose

of keeping in repair those on the list which were deemed available for use, or

could be made so by overhauling them. The result was that, under the guise of

making repairs, practically new ships were built, and the opportunities for

squandering money were multiplied. It was under the operation of this system,

and through the influence of Robeson, that the contractors named were put in

the way of profitable jobs and were given practical control of the furnishing

of naval supplies on the coast; and it was to make things easy for them that

Pinney was placed in the navy pay inspector's office in this City. As already

related Pinney had purchased a seat on the stock board and was speculating

heavily in 1873 and with some success. He was not the sort of man to resist

temptation and when the opportunity presented itself to enlarge his operations

by making use of the facilities which were created to promote the pecuniary

interests of the contracting group he promptly seized it, and apparently

extended the fraudulent practices. 




According

to Pinney's story, afterward confirmed in court, and by subsequent

developments, a species of negotiable paper, authorized and sanctioned by

Secretary Robeson, was issued for the benefit of the contractors Montagnie,

Hanscom and Jordan. This paper was known as navy pay certificates. They

purported to bind the government to pay the three men mentioned for work done

or material furnished whenever the funds therefore should be available. These certificates

were deposited in various banks as collateral for loans made to the contractors

and to other parties. Among the latter Pinney figured largely. To what extent

is unknown, and whether his borrowings were always on his own account is

equally uncertain. But that he availed himself freely of his privilege there is

no doubt. 




When

Pinney's disclosures were published in the "Chronicle" on the morning

of May 7, 1877, Senator A. A. Sargent and George C. Gorham were in the City. 




Page had

returned to the coast from Washington, but had at once repaired to his home in

El Dorado county. Carr lived in San Francisco. Gorham was secretary of the

United States senate and his relations with Sargent were close. He was referred

to in the article as one of the group constituting what the

"Chronicle" called the "Federal Ring." He had been

prominently identified with the republican party in California and owed his

position as secretary of the senate through the influence thus gained. La

Grange, the superintendent of the mint, was also included in the group, and

Carr was credited with the active manipulation of the local machinery. The

accused men were greatly enraged at the publication, and at once took steps to

have the "Chronicle" punished. Efforts were made to procure indictments

for criminal libel in several counties simultaneously, but they proved

unsuccessful everywhere, excepting in Page's home county where two trials were

subsequently had, both of which resulted in disagreements of the juries. The

"Chronicle," however, appealed its case to the people of the state,

and at the election in the ensuing November a legislature overwhelmingly

democratic in complexion was chosen, a result wholly due to the exposures made

by the paper, which thoroughly investigated all the ramifications of the frauds

alleged against the so-called ring. 




In

addition to the criminal libel case tried at Placerville several civil suits

were brought against the "Chronicle" none of which, however, were

pressed. Among these was one filed at the instance of Page, based on the charge

made by Pinney that he had loaned the congressman several thousand dollars,

which was used in buying votes in his district at $3 per head. Although this

statement was made solely on the authority of Pinney the "Chronicle"

had no doubts about its accuracy. When challenged by the suit to prove the

allegation the paper had no difficulty gathering information which proved

conclusively that votes had been bought in San Leandro, Pleasanton and other

parts of Alameda county by wholesale and at the figure named. Among the facts

developed by the "Chronicle" was that of the organized and successful

effort of Haggin, Tevis and Carr to secure large tracts of land under the

Desert Land Act. Simultaneously with these exposures the "Chronicle"

also undertook to put an end to the timber land frauds which were being

perpetrated on an extensive scale. Although abundant proof of the

irregularities was furnished it had no effect at Washington, the public land

office at that time being completely under the control of a corrupt gang, whose

operations were carried on as boldly as those of the whisky ring, whose frauds

were practiced on a colossal scale at the expense of the people. 




Although

the interests at Washington were powerful enough to stave off inquiries into

the land frauds, the showing made by the "Chronicle" profoundly

impressed the people of California, and served to greatly accentuate the

already formidable opposition to land monopoly that had theretofore been

largely based on indisposition of the owners of large Spanish and Mexican

grants to part with their holdings, and to the growing perception of the fact

that the managers of the Central Pacific had flagrantly evaded the provisions

of the Land Grant Act, which required the railroad to sell the lands received

from the government at not more than double the minimum price at which public

lands were sold, by creating another corporation, of which they were the sole

members and selling the lands granted by congress to themselves. As Sargent,

Page and the others accused by Pinney were zealous servants of the railroad the

corporation did all in its power to embarrass the paper which had made the

exposure. 




The

obvious purpose of Pinney in making the exposure was to force the men with whom

he had formerly worked to repair the wrongs which he charged them with

inflicting upon him by their desertion. He measurably succeeded in this

purpose. In the first trial at Placerville he was the "Chronicle's"

principal witness, and the evidence he gave, although it was only part of the

truth, was of such a character that it must have resulted in an acquittal in

any other place than Page's home town. But at the second trial Pinney suffered

a complete lapse of memory, and was unable to recall many of the details freely

related by him when first put on the stand. His changed attitude was rewarded

by a renewal of the old-time intimacy with the men he had pilloried in his

confession. Several civil suits brought against him were either withdrawn or

not pressed, and presently he took on the appearance of a prosperous man about

town, living at the best hotel and dressing in excellent taste. He followed no

particular occupation, but was reputed to be dabbling in stocks. 




The

banks on which he had imposed the worthless navy pay certificates were not

equally flourishing. The Savings and Loan Society and the Masonic bank, which

held his notes to the amount of over a half a million had brought suit against

him, probably in the hope that he would substantiate the assertion that he had

made in the Washington narrative that Billy Carr and others were interested in

the undertakings for which the money was borrowed, and the worthless

certificates given as collateral, but they were unsuccessful in bringing about

such a result. Pinney had shot his bolt and had accomplished his purpose. The

two institutions were powerless, for the paper accepted by them as security was

not forged. The certificates when analyzed were seen to be mere promises that

in certain contingencies the navy pay office would pay certain moneys to

persons entitled to draw them if the contingencies occurred. In a certain

sense, they were not even irregular, for the method, according to the

statements of Spalding, was not disapproved by the department in Washington, and

Pinney put the matter still more strongly by asserting that it actually had the

sanction of the secretary of the navy. 




Whatever

doubt may exist concerning the character of the navy pay certificates there is

none about the result of accepting them as collateral. The two banks mentioned

were driven to the wall. In 1878, when the commission created by the

legislature of 1877-78, as a result of the scandalous laxity of bank

management, began its investigations of the condition of the banks at San

Francisco, they were the first to be closed. A singular reticence concerning

the nature of the troubles that brought about the establishment of the

much-needed bank commission has been manifested by writers who have dealt with

this phase of the subject. It has been made to appear that the failure of the

Bank of California was responsible for all the financial difficulties of the

three succeeding years, but it is impossible to connect that event directly

with the closing of the Masonic Savings bank and the Savings and Loan Society.

As already stated the rehabilitated Bank of California met all its obligations

a few weeks after it resumed business. Excessive speculation was the cause of

the failure of the greater institution, gross mismanagement and utter disregard

of the principles of sound banking explain the misfortunes of the savings

banks. 




This

mismanagement was openly commented upon after the revelations of Pinney, but

the storm of criticism only began to rage in real earnest when the

commissioners found it necessary to close in quick succession eight banks. The

first of these was the Masonic Savings and Loan, which owed its depositors

$1,150,900; it was followed by the Farmers and Merchants, with deposit

liabilities of $373,675; then the French Savings and Loan Society, with

deposits of $5,503,100 closed. The Odd Fellows Savings bank experienced a heavy

run in the fall of 1878 and tried to save itself by reorganization, but after a

protracted struggle it went to the wall on the 5th of February 1879, owing

depositors $2,117,100. In one case, that of the Pioneer Loan and Savings bank,

known as Duncan's, which closed its doors in 1877, even the sorry excuse of

mismanagement could not be urged. The manager was a scoundrel pure and simple,

who baited his hook with high interest rates to depositors, and caught the

credulous with ease. His record was part of the criminal annals of the City,

and hardly deserves to be included in a recital of financial transactions. 




Prior to

1876 there had been absolutely no supervision by the state of the financial

institutions within its borders. In the year mentioned a feeble effort was made

in that direction in an act which compelled banks to make reports of a uniform

character, but the disclosures of these publications were of little value, as

the opportunity to check their accuracy was lacking. The legislature of 187778

sought to remedy this defect by the creation of a commission of three members

at a salary of $3,000 each, and traveling expenses to the amount of $1,500 per

annum. One clerk at $1,800 was provided, $900 was allowed for rent and $200 for

fuel, stationery, etc. One of the anomalies of the period was the antagonism

aroused by the proposal to create this modest establishment. Had the banks

opposed the formation of the commission, considering all the circumstances,

their opposition would not have been strange, for they had much to conceal; but

it came from an entirely different source. It was the "sand lot" that

voiced the loudest objection and it was based chiefly on the assumption that

the object of the legislation was to make places for politicians, and that the

commission would be converted into an instrument to screen the banks instead of

exposing them. 




The act

was passed despite opposition on the 30th of March 1878, and the first

commissioners appointed were Evan J. Coleman, Robert Watt and James P. Murphy.

If there was any sincerity in the expressed belief that the new board would

accomplish nothing it was disappointed by the result, for within two years

after its creation it compelled eight different institutions to close their

doors, and made some cautious approaches towards the introduction of a system

which demanded that the savings banks should exercise something like care in

the acceptance of securities for loans. Their efforts were facilitated by the

distrust created by the exposure of the recklessness of management, which

resulted in a reduction of savings banks' deposits amounting to $24,000,000,

and a contraction of the resources of the commercial banks amounting to

$6,000,000, although the deposits in the latter had increased $4,000,000 — a

serious impairment of the banking power in the short period mentioned. 




A

compilation made by Wright discloses that up to the end of 1878 dividends had

been paid by the savings banks of San Francisco aggregating $40,981,479. There

were then in existence the following banks receiving deposits and paying

interest upon them: Hibernia Savings and Loan, the Savings and Loan Society,

French Mutual and Provident, San Francisco Savings Union, Odd Fellows Savings

bank, German Savings and Loan Society, Masonic Savings bank, Security Savings

bank, Humboldt Savings and Loan, Farmers and Merchants Savings and California

Savings and Loan. They are enumerated here in the order of their importance as

determined by their dividends, the Hibernia heading the list, with a showing of

$11,890,806 to the date named, while the. California Savings and Loan appeared

at the foot with $127,317 to its credit. 




The San

Francisco Clearing House was established in March 1876, and included in its

first list of members the following banks: Bank of California, Bank of British

Columbia, Bank of British North America, Bank of San Francisco, B. F. Davidson

& Co., Belloc & Co., Donahue, Kelly & Co., First National Gold Bank

of San Francisco, Hicox & Spear, London and San Francisco bank, Merchants

Exchange bank, Sather & Co., Swiss American bank, Anglo California bank and

Wells, Fargo & Co. In 1877 the Nevada bank, Lazard Freres, Pacific bank,

National Gold bank and Trust Company and Tallant & Co., were added, and in

1883 Crocker, Woolworth & Co., making a total of twenty-one members at the

end of the period 1871-83. 




These

banks were of varied organization. They consisted of private, incorporated,

state and national banks, those in the first named category predominating and

the national system being least favored. The clearings of the first full year

after the organization of the clearing house aggregated $519,948,803. In the

ensuing year, 1878, they increased to $715,329,319, but the expansion was

largely if not wholly due to the addition of five new members. After 1878, the

clearings begin to tell the story of the business activities of the City with

more or less exactitude to the careful statistician who takes into

consideration other sources of evidence, such as the prevalence of speculation

on an unusual scale. Allowing for such aberrations the clearing house records

show a remarkable decline after 1878, which was marked by but one mining stock

deal of consequence. In 1879, they aggregated $553,953,955; in 1880 they had

fallen off still further to $486,725,953. After that date there was an

improvement, the amount cleared in 1882 being $629,114,119. 




If the

spirit of the times was responsible for the incautiousness displayed by some of

the banks in the Seventies it cannot be said that their management was entirely

devoid of conservatism. It is related that the first bank in San Francisco

occupied quarters over a stable on the corner of Kearny and Washington streets,

and that the Hibernia Savings and Loan Society, now one of the strongest

savings banks in the country, began its career in leased quarters. There was no

disposition shown to abandon this frugal course until the expanding business of

the City, and its growth of population imposed the necessity of providing

better quarters. The Bank of California moved into the handsome structure it

occupied up to the time of the fire of 1906 in 1866, and the other institutions

sought to advertise their prosperity by external appearances, not always with

the same success architecturally as that institution, although one of them

enjoyed the proud distinction for a long time of having introduced the first

iron front into San Francisco. In 1878, it was estimated that only 2% of the

resources of the banks were invested in premises, buildings and furniture. In

that year, the largest value reported as devoted to that purpose by any bank

was $250,000. Some idea of the change in this regard will be inferred from the

statement that in 1910 bank premises in San Francisco were valued at

$22,656,000, an amount representing 4% of their resources. 




An event

of financial interest occurred in 1874. In that year, the Mint building on

Fifth street between Market and Mission, begun in 1867, was completed and

occupied. Up to 1874 a building on Commercial, about sixty feet west of

Montgomery street, had been serving the purposes of the government. The

property had been acquired in 1853, and the sum of $335,000 was expended in its

purchase and in revamping and adding to an old building which, although called

the U. S. Assay Office, was not recognized by the government, and in providing

coinage machinery. The lot was only 60x60 feet, and the transaction occasioned

considerable scandal at the time, it being asserted that the property and plant

were not worth at the outside more than $75,000. It was illy adapted to the use

to which it was put, and there was persistent criticism, which, however, did

not accomplish anything until 1867, when the government bought the Fifth street

property, and later began the structure which was completed in 1874 and was for

many years regarded as one of the chief architectural ornaments of the City. It

is built of sandstone with a classical facade on Fifth street, and is

surrounded by streets on all sides. Its equipment was of a superior character,

and its opening, and the subsequent importance attached to it by the government

proved a source of satisfaction to the state and the entire coast, implying as

it did a recognition of the fact that, although situated three thousand miles

or more from the seat of government, the people living on the Pacific slope

were citizens of the Union. 




After

the abandonment of the Commercial street property by the mint in 1874 the old

buildings were torn down and a new, but very unpretentious structure was

erected on the site for the officers of the subtreasury and other federal

officials. By 1877, however, the business of the subtreasury had expanded to such

an extent that the whole building was taken possession of by the subtreasurer

and his force, and the other government officials had to find quarters

elsewhere. One of the interesting features connected with this important

office, whose transactions mount into the millions, and in which many millions

of government money are stored under the care of a subtreasurer, is the short

roll of men who held the latter office up to 1883. The list embraces the names

of Jacob R. Snyder, David W. Cheeseman, Charles N. Felton, William Sherman and

Nathan W. Spaulding. 




The

banking annals of this period indicate that the tendency toward combination was

not developed at that time. The disposition was entirely in the direction of

creating new institutions and the result of multiplication was to weaken,

whereas judicious mergers might have strengthened the banking power of the

City. The California Trust Company, organized in 1867, and incorporated in

1868, and reorganized in 1872 as a national gold bank, was a victim to the diffusive

tendency. In the troubles of 1875 it was obliged to close its doors, but was

able to resume in 1876. In 1880, it went into voluntary liquidation, paying its

depositors in full. 




In 1871

congress passed an act authorizing an issue of $45,000,000 gold notes

redeemable on demand. A Boston company had applied for the privilege of

organizing a bank which would use these notes but it never put its project into

execution, and no national gold bank was ever put into operation outside of

California. The first bank of this sort organized was the First National Gold

Bank of San Francisco, which went into business in January 1871, and received

its notes for circulation in the following March. The yellow notes emitted by

this and other gold banks became measurably familiar in San Francisco during

the Seventies, but greenbacks did not circulate. The disinclination for paper

money, however, was no greater during that decade than it is at present.

Although there are now numerous national banks in San Francisco whose

circulation runs up into the millions, the notes emitted by them under the

authority of the government are almost wholly used outside of the state, the

tender of paper money in ordinary business transactions being very unusual. 




A freak

experiment in banking was made in 1874, when the Grangers' bank was

incorporated. It was the outcome of a movement of the farmers against the

middleman. There was great dissatisfaction on the part of the wheat grower over

the manipulation of ocean shipping charters, and the existence was charged of a

ring which neglected no opportunity to put up rates for carrying grain to

Europe. The purpose of starting the bank was to finance a scheme of securing

ships under favorable conditions and loading them with cargoes to be sold on

the way to Europe, or on arrival in port. The theory of the farmers that they

were made the victims of charter speculators seemed to have been borne out by

the facts, but the experiment of the Grangers' bank proved a failure, and while

it maintained a precarious existence for many years, it was finally obliged to

go into liquidation in November 1895. 




In 1875,

the safe deposit system was introduced in San Francisco by the California Safe

Deposit Company in the basement of a building erected on the corner of

California and Montgomery streets. Prior to that time the practice of allowing

depositors to place tin boxes in the vaults of banks had prevailed, and the

innovation was hailed as a great convenience. The subsequent failure of the

bank which maintained the vaults, and the flight of its manager, gave a great

shock to renters, who at first feared that the confidence they had reposed in

the safety of the contents of their boxes had been violated, but examination

disclosed that the apprehension was groundless. Curiously enough, however, the

agitators of the sand lot, with whom the corruption of bank officials was a

favorite theme, persisted to the last in asserting that Duncan had robbed the

vaults before his flight. 
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